

[JAN 2025]



Opening Account Agreement

This document referred to as Standard Terms of Business ("**Terms**") is a legal agreement between you (the "**Client**", "**You**", "**Yourself**") and mSamex Cryptocurrency Exchange OÜ (the "**Firm**", "**mSamexFx**", "**Us**", "**We**") in relation to the Client's investment activities with the Firm.

mSamex Cryptocurrency Exchange OÜ (company number 1703174) is Business Company incorporated in the Estonia.

These Terms represent a legally binding agreement between you and mSamexfx. By providing us with instructions to transact or by utilizing our services, you are accepting these Terms on your own behalf as well as on behalf of any principal(s) for whom you may be acting as an agent.

The following documents, as may be amended from time to time and published on mSamexfx's website, Trading Platform, or upon request are incorporated by reference to these Terms and form part of your contractual relationship with us and specifically compromises of:

- These Terms (including the Annexes, and any additional Addendums)
- The Financial Terms
- Any application or form that the Client submits to open, maintain, or close an Account with the Firm
- The Notice Letter
- Any other specific terms and conditions entered into between the Firm and the Client, which may be displayed on the relevant website, and which may include any of the following:
 - (1) the Firm's "Order Execution Policy", which explains certain aspects of how the Firm quotes prices and deals with Orders and Transactions;
 - (2) the Firm's "Conflict of Interest Policy", which explains how the Firm handles conflicts of interest in a manner that treats its clients fairly;
 - (3) the Firm's "**Privacy Policy**", which explains how the Firm deals with personal information the Client provides to the Firm;
 - (4) the Firm's "Complaint Handling and Processing Policy" which details how the Firm deals with the Client complaints;
 - (5) the Firm's "Risk Disclosure Policy" which outlines the key risks associated with online trading through our Trading Platform. and
 - (6) any instructions, guides and worked samples published or provided by the Firm explaining how to enter into and close Transactions on the Trading Platform.

The Terms and all the aforementioned documents are together referred to as the "Agreement".

This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the Client and the Firm with respect to the subject matter hereof and supersedes all prior contemporaneous oral or written communications, proposals, agreements or representations with respect to the subject matter.

Prior to the Client opening an Account and placing any Order or Transaction with the Firm, it is strongly recommended that the Client should spend the necessary time to read and understand these Terms, as well as any additional documents and information (forming part of the Agreement or otherwise) available on the Firm's website or upon request.

Do not proceed with the account application if you have any uncertainty about the implications of these Terms or the inherent risks. If you choose to fill out, sign, and submit the account application to



mSamexfx, you are explicitly confirming that you have diligently reviewed, received, and comprehended all documents provided to you in conjunction with these Terms, including any accompanying annexes.

Furthermore, you acknowledge and consent that your association with mSamexfx will be bound by the terms and conditions stipulated in the Agreement. Additionally, your ongoing use of the Website and Trading Platform signifies your automatic acceptance of any future iterations of the Agreement.

By signing below or by acknowledging my acceptance through the account opening process, I affirm and declare that I have thoroughly reviewed, received, comprehended, and accepted the terms and conditions outlined in the Agreement. Furthermore, I hereby certify that all information provided in this account application is truthful and accurate. I pledge to promptly notify mSamexfx in writing of any substantial changes to the information contained in this application. I confirm that my engagement in trading with mSamexfx is in compliance with the regulations of my country of residence.

ACKNOWLEDGED BY:	
Client Name:	
Date of signature:	



Table Of Contents

1.	Definitions	7
2.	Risk Acknowledgment	. 12
3.	Dealing As Principal	. 12
4.	Client Classification	. 13
5.	Products And Services	. 13
6.	Access And Use Of The Trading Platform And/Or Client Portal	. 15
7.	Dealing Between The Firm And The Client	. 16
8.	Trading Confirmations And Account Statements	. 17
9.	Joint Accounts	. 18
10.	Commissions, Charges And Other Costs	. 19
11.	Pament Withdrawal And Set Off	. 20
12.	Client Money	. 21
13.	Client Assets	. 23
14.	Tax	. 24
15.	Conflicts Of Interest	. 24
16.	Referring Partners, Fund Managers And Service Providers	. 25
17.	Managed Accounts	. 26
18.	Margin	. 28
19.	Security	. 30
20.	Appropriateness	.31
21.	Representations, Warranties And Covenants	.32
22.	Default And Default Remedies	. 33
23.	Force Majeure	. 35
24.	Manifest Errors	. 36
25.	Gaming And/Or Abusive Strategies And/Or Arbitrage	.36
26.	Market Abuse	. 37
27.	Exclusions And Limitations Of Liability	. 38
28.	Reimbursement And Indemnity	. 39
29.	Third-Party Trading Program Instruction	. 40



31. Amendments	30.	Rights To Cancel/ Cooling Off	41
33. Dormant Account	31.	Amendments	42
34. In The Event Of Death	32.	Suspension And Termination	42
35. Notices And Communication With The Client	33.	Dormant Account	43
36. Intellectual Property	34.	n The Event Of Death	44
37. Confidentiality And Data Protection	35.	Notices And Communication With The Client	45
38. Miscellaneous	36.	ntellectual Property	46
39. Governing Law 4 Annex A – Contracts For Difference 5 1. Scope 5 2. Definitions 5 3. Risks 5 4. Services 5 5. Obtaining A Quote And Order Placement 6 6. Opening CFD Contracts 7 7. Closing CFD Contracts 8 8. CFD Contracts On Securities 9 9. CFD Contracts On Financial Instruments 9 10. Transaction Costs And Rollover 11 11. Account Statements 9 12. Payment, Withdrawal And Set-Off 11 13. Margin 11 Annex B — High-Risk Investment Notice 11 1. Scope 12 2. Definitions And Interpretations 12 3. General Information 15 4. Execution Only 15 5. Contingent Liability Transactions 15 6. Margined CFD Trading 15 7. Contracts For Difference 15 8. CFDs Settled In Cash 15	37.	Confidentiality And Data Protection	46
Annex A – Contracts For Difference	38.	Miscellaneous	48
Annex A – Contracts For Difference	39.	Governing Law	49
1. Scope. 5 2. Definitions. 5 3. Risks. 5 4. Services. 5 5. Obtaining A Quote And Order Placement. 6 6. Opening CFD Contracts. 5 7. Closing CFD Contracts. 5 8. CFD Contracts On Securities. 5 9. CFD Contracts On Financial Instruments. 5 10. Transaction Costs And Rollover. 5 11. Account Statements. 5 12. Payment, Withdrawal And Set-Off. 5 13. Margin. 5 Annex B — High-Risk Investment Notice. 5 1. Scope. 5 2. Definitions And Interpretations. 5 3. General Information. 5 4. Execution Only. 5 5. Contingent Liability Transactions. 5 6. Margined CFD Trading. 5 7. Contracts For Difference. 5 8. CFDs Settled In Cash. 5			
2. Definitions 5 3. Risks 5 4. Services 5 5. Obtaining A Quote And Order Placement 5 6. Opening CFD Contracts 5 7. Closing CFD Contracts 5 8. CFD Contracts On Securities 5 9. CFD Contracts On Financial Instruments 5 10. Transaction Costs And Rollover 5 11. Account Statements 5 12. Payment, Withdrawal And Set-Off 5 13. Margin 5 Annex B - High-Risk Investment Notice 5 1. Scope 5 2. Definitions And Interpretations 5 3. General Information 5 4. Execution Only 5 5. Contingent Liability Transactions 5 6. Margined CFD Trading 5 7. Contracts For Difference 5 8. CFDs Settled In Cash 5 9. Volatile Markets And Closed Markets 5			
3. Risks 5 4. Services 5 5. Obtaining A Quote And Order Placement 5 6. Opening CFD Contracts 5 7. Closing CFD Contracts 5 8. CFD Contracts On Securities 5 9. CFD Contracts On Financial Instruments 5 10. Transaction Costs And Rollover 5 11. Account Statements 5 12. Payment, Withdrawal And Set-Off 5 13. Margin 5 Annex B - High-Risk Investment Notice 5 1. Scope 5 2. Definitions And Interpretations 5 3. General Information 5 4. Execution Only 5 5. Contingent Liability Transactions 5 6. Margined CFD Trading 5 7. Contracts For Difference 5 8. CFDs Settled In Cash 5 9. Volatile Markets And Closed Markets 5		·	
4. Services 5 5. Obtaining A Quote And Order Placement 5 6. Opening CFD Contracts 5 7. Closing CFD Contracts 5 8. CFD Contracts On Securities 5 9. CFD Contracts On Financial Instruments 5 10. Transaction Costs And Rollover 5 11. Account Statements 5 12. Payment, Withdrawal And Set-Off 5 13. Margin 5 Annex B — High-Risk Investment Notice 5 1. Scope 5 2. Definitions And Interpretations 5 3. General Information 5 4. Execution Only 5 5. Contingent Liability Transactions 5 6. Margined CFD Trading 5 7. Contracts For Difference 5 8. CFDs Settled In Cash 5 9. Volatile Markets And Closed Markets 5			
5. Obtaining A Quote And Order Placement			
6. Opening CFD Contracts. 5 7. Closing CFD Contracts 5 8. CFD Contracts On Securities. 5 9. CFD Contracts On Financial Instruments 5 10. Transaction Costs And Rollover. 5 11. Account Statements. 5 12. Payment, Withdrawal And Set-Off. 5 13. Margin. 5 Annex B - High-Risk Investment Notice. 5 1. Scope. 5 2. Definitions And Interpretations. 5 3. General Information. 5 4. Execution Only. 5 5. Contingent Liability Transactions. 5 6. Margined CFD Trading. 5 7. Contracts For Difference. 5 8. CFDs Settled In Cash. 5 9. Volatile Markets And Closed Markets. 5			
7. Closing CFD Contracts			
8. CFD Contracts On Securities			
9. CFD Contracts On Financial Instruments		-	
10. Transaction Costs And Rollover			
11. Account Statements			
12. Payment, Withdrawal And Set-Off			
13. Margin			
Annex B — High-Risk Investment Notice		·	
1. Scope		13. Margin	56
2. Definitions And Interpretations 5 3. General Information 5 4. Execution Only 5 5. Contingent Liability Transactions 5 6. Margined CFD Trading 5 7. Contracts For Difference 5 8. CFDs Settled In Cash 5 9. Volatile Markets And Closed Markets 5	Anne	ex B — High-Risk Investment Notice	57
3. General Information		1. Scope	57
4. Execution Only		2. Definitions And Interpretations	57
5. Contingent Liability Transactions		3. General Information	57
6. Margined CFD Trading		4. Execution Only	57
7. Contracts For Difference		5. Contingent Liability Transactions	58
8. CFDs Settled In Cash		6. Margined CFD Trading	58
9. Volatile Markets And Closed Markets5		7. Contracts For Difference	58
		8. CFDs Settled In Cash	59
		9. Volatile Markets And Closed Markets	59
•			
11. Weekend Risk		·	
		11. Weekend Risk	59

13. Electronic Trading	60
14. Risk Reducing Orders Or Strategies	60
15. Electronic Communication	60
16. Foreign Markets	60
17. Collateral	61
18. Prices	61
19. Commissions	61
20. Suspensions Of Trading	61
21. Liquidation Of Open Positions	61
22. Trading Via A Fund Manager	61
23. Insolvency	62

1. DEFINITIONS

- **1.1.** In these Terms, the following words and phrases shall, unless the context otherwise requires, have the following meanings and may be used in the singular or plural as appropriate:
 - "Access Code" shall mean any password(s), username, or any other security code issued by the Firm to the Client, which would allow the Client to access and utilize the Firm's Services;
 - "Account" shall mean any account or accounts opened in Trading Program and/ or Multi-Product Platform that the Firm maintains for the Client for dealing in the products or services made available under these Terms and in which the Client's cash and assets are held, and to which realized profits and/ or losses are debited;
 - "Account Statement" shall mean a periodic statement of the Transactions and/ or charges credited or debited to an Account at a specific point in time and which will be available to the Client on the Trading Platform;
 - "Agreement" encompasses the collective body of legal and operational documentation governing the relationship between the Firm and the Client including but not limited to the Terms, Risk Disclosure Policy, Privacy Policy, Order execution Policy, Complaint Handling and Processing Policy, Conflict of Interest and any other specific terms and conditions entered into between the Firm and the Client,
 - "Applicable Regulations" shall mean any other Rules of a relevant regulatory authority or any other rules of a relevant Market and all other applicable laws, rules and regulations as in force from time to time;
 - "Associated Firm" shall mean, in respect to the Firm, the Firm's subsidiaries or holding companies or subsidiaries of such holding companies with "subsidiary" and "holding company";
 - "Attorney" refers to a Fund Manager or duly authorized representative designated by the Client through a Limited Power of Attorney, and with whom the Firm has agreed to act on behalf of the Client or provide instructions to the Firm in accordance with these Terms.;
 - "Base Currency" shall mean the currency in which the Client's Account is denominated and in which the Firm will debit and credit the Client's Account;
 - "Business Day" refers to a day when the Firm's operational and support services are accessible to facilitate trading activities and includes any weekday when banks relevant to the Firm are open for regular commercial transactions, excluding Saturdays and Sundays;
 - "CFD" or "Contract for Differences" shall mean a type of Transaction of which the P&L is by reference to fluctuations in the value or price of a commodity, security, currency, or other Underlying Instrument. Types of Contracts for Differences shall include, but are not limited to, Single Share CFDs, stock index CFDs, commodity CFD, bullion CFD, and foreign exchange CFDs;
 - "Client" shall mean any individual or entity that has registered and established an Account with the Firm to participate in the buying and selling of financial instruments and who is a party to the Agreement.



"Client Money" refers to funds, in conformity with the Client Money Rules, comprising monetary assets of any currency that the Firm receives or safeguards on behalf of the Client, or in connection with the business activities outlined in the Agreement, excluding funds owed by the Client to the Firm or any third party.;

"Closing Date" shall mean the date on which a Transaction is closed by either the Client or the Firm in accordance with these Terms;

"Closing Notice" shall mean a notice given to the Client by the Firm to close all or part of any Transaction (margined or otherwise) via the Trading Platform, via email or by telephone as applicable;

"Closing Price" shall mean:

- In the context of a Rolling Spot Forex Contract, it refers to the exchange rate that allows the Client to either purchase if the desired action is to close the contract when the prevailing rate is a sell, or to sell if the desired action is to close the contract when the prevailing rate is a buy.; or
- In the context of a CFD, it pertains to either the Contract Investment Price when a Closing Notice becomes effective, as determined by the Firm, or the Contract Investment Price when a CFD is terminated by the Firm while exercising its rights under these Terms.

"Complex Product" shall mean certain derivative products such as, without limitation, Rolling Spot Forex Contracts, CFDs, warrants, covered warrants, and certain shares if they are not listed on a Regulated Market;

"Confirmation" shall mean a notification from the Firm to the Client confirming the Client's entry into a Transaction;

"Contract Investment Price" shall mean the current price of an Underlying Instrument as determined by the Firm;

"Contract Quantity" shall mean the total number of shares, contracts or other units of the Underlying Instrument that the Client is notionally buying or selling;

"Contract Value" shall mean the product of the Contract Quantity and the prevailing quote provided by the Firm for closing the Transaction at that time.

"Corporate Action" shall mean the occurrence of any of the following in relation to the issuer of any relevant financial instrument and/or Underlying Instrument;

- any rights, script, bonus, capitalization, or other issue or offer of shares/ Equities of whatever nature or the issue of any warrants, options or the like giving the rights to subscribe for shares/ Equity;
- an acquisition or cancellation of own shares/ Equities by the issuer;
- any reduction, subdivision, consolidation or reclassification of share/ Equity capital;
- any distribution of cash or shares, including payment of dividend;
- a take-over or merger offer;
- any amalgamation or reconstruction affecting the shares/ Equities concerned; and/ or
- any other event which has a diluting or concentrating effect on the market value of any share/ Equity which is an Underlying Instrument or otherwise.



"Credit Support Document" shall mean as defined in Clause 22.1 of these Terms;

"Credit Support Provider" shall mean any person who has entered into any guarantee, hypothecation agreement, margin or security agreement in the Firm's favor with respect to the Client's obligations under these Terms;

"Custody Assets" shall mean as defined in Clause 13 of these Terms;

"Event of Default" shall mean any of the events listed in Clause 22 of these Terms;

"Exceptional Market Event" shall mean the suspension, closure, liquidation, imposition of limits, special or unusual terms, excessive movement, volatility or loss of liquidity in any relevant Market or Underlying Instrument, or where the Firm reasonably believes that any of the above circumstances are about to occur:

"Financial Terms" shall mean the details of any interest, costs, fees or other charges, as varied from time to time, which apply to the Client's Account with the Firm;

"Firm" shall mean mSamex Cryptocurrency Exchange OÜ (company number 1703174) is a Business Company incorporated in the Estonia;

"Force Majeure Event" shall mean as defined in Clause 23 of these Terms;

"Fund Manager" refers to an individual or legal entity, duly approved by the Firm, and authorized to execute Orders and/or Transactions on behalf of the Client, either in their own name or in the name of the Client;

"Hedging Facility" shall mean the optional feature on the Trading Platform allowing the Client to hedge investment positions, which can be enabled or disabled;

"Insolvency Officer" shall mean as defined in Clause 22 of these Terms;

"Limited Power of Attorney" shall mean the document by which the Client designates a Fund Manager or representative to act on its behalf and provide instructions to the Firm concerning the Agreement.

"Manifest Error" shall mean as defined in Clause 24 of these Terms;

"Margin" shall mean as defined in Clause 18 of these Terms;

"Margin Call Warning" shall mean a demand for such sums by way of Margin as the Firm may reasonably require for the purpose of protecting itself against loss or risk of loss on present, future or contemplated transactions in the Account under these Terms;



"Margin Requirement" shall mean the amount of money and/ or assets that the Client is required to deposit and/ or hold with the Firm as consideration for entering into a Transaction and/ or maintaining an Open Position on its Account;

"Margined Transaction" shall mean any Transaction liable to Margin;

"Market" refers to any trading environment or multilateral trading facility, adheres to established trading rules, and operates within defined trading hours. This may encompass a range of markets, including but not limited to Regulated Markets, where participants come together to facilitate the buying and selling of financial instruments or assets.

"Market Order" shall mean an Order to enter the Market at the best current price offered by the Firm at that time;

"Multi-Product Platform" shall mean the Firm's multi-product platform as offered from time to time;

"Nominee" shall mean a nominee as designated by the Firm from time to time;

"Non-Complex Product" shall mean certain products including, shares traded on a Regulated Market, as well as bonds and units in a regulated collective investment scheme;

"Non-Hedging Setting" shall mean as enabled when the Client disables the Hedging Setting on its Trading Platform preventing the Client from hedging investment positions;

"**Notice Letter**" is a correspondence that confirms the Client's status and categorization to the Firm. The Client acknowledges and accepts this letter in conjunction with the Terms.

"**Open Position**" shall mean a Transaction which has not yet been closed in whole or in part under these Terms;

"Order" shall mean an instruction to purchase or sell a CFD Contract, and/ or any other products offered by the Firm from time to time, at a price quoted by the Firm as appropriate;

"OTC" shall mean an abbreviation of "Over the Counter" and includes any Transaction concerning a commodity, security, currency or other financial instrument or property, including any future, or CFD which is traded off exchange by the Firm rather than on a regulated stock or commodities exchange;

"P&L" shall mean the total of the Client's profits (whether realized or not) less the Client's losses (whether realized or not);

"Principal" shall mean the individual person or legal entity which is a party to the Transaction;

"Referring Partner" shall mean a person or firm who acts on behalf of the Client to effectuate an introduction of the Client to the Firm; and who is not a Fund Manager of the Firm;

"Regulated Market" shall mean a multilateral trading system operated by a market operator that brings together multiple third party buying and selling interests in financial instruments where the instruments traded are admitted to the Market according to its rules and systems;



"Resident of the United States of America" shall mean any natural person resident in the United States; any company, partnership, or other legal entity created or organized under the laws of any jurisdiction of the United States; a branch or agency of a foreign entity located in the United States; a trust of which the trustee is a United States resident; an estate of which a United States resident is the executor or administrator; or any account held for the benefit of a Resident of the United States;

"Client Portal" shall mean the password protected part of the Firm's website (or any website notified to the Client by the Firm) through which the Client can view its Account information;

"Secured Obligation" shall mean as defined in Clause 19 of these Terms;

"Service Provider" shall mean a person or firm who provides a third-party service to the Client via the Firm which is compatible with or enhances the Firm's Services;

"Services" refers to the services that the Firm will furnish to the Client in accordance with the provisions outlined in these Terms.

"**Terms**" shall mean these Standard Terms of Business between the Client and the Firm as may be amended from time to time.

"Third Party Trading Program" shall mean as defined in Clause 29 of these Terms;

"Trading Platform" refers to the Firm's software application or online interface, which empowers the Client to engage in trading and execute transactions for financial instruments with the Firm, as per these Terms. This includes the use of the MT5 Programs of MetaQuotes Ltd., and/or the Multi Product Platform, as well as any other platforms periodically integrated by the Firm.

"Transaction" shall mean a contract in a financial instrument or any other contractual arrangement entered into between the Client and the Firm including a Margined Transaction as defined in these Terms;

"Underlying Instrument" shall mean the index, commodity, currency, Equity or other instrument, asset or factor whose price or value provides the basis for the Firm or any third party to determine its price or the executable price for a Market or product.

- **1.2.** A reference in these Terms to "Clause" or "Annex" shall be construed as a reference to, respectively, a Clause or Annex in these Terms, unless the context otherwise requires.
- **1.3.** References in these Terms to any law, statute, regulation or enactment shall include references to any modification, amendment, extension, or re-enactment thereof.
- **1.4.** In these Terms, references to an individual person shall include body corporates, unincorporated associations, partnerships, and individuals.
- **1.5.** Capitalized words and phrases defined in the Applicable Regulations have the same meaning in these Terms unless expressly defined in these Terms.
- **1.6.** Headings and notes in these Terms are for reference only and shall not affect the contents and interpretation of these Terms.



2. RISK ACKNOWLEDGMENT

- **2.1.** The Client acknowledges, recognizes, and comprehends that engaging in trading and investing in leveraged and non-leveraged products as highlighted further in Annex B (High-Risk Investment Notice) and in the Risk Disclosure Policy:
 - is highly speculative;
 - may involve a level of risk where losses could exceed their initial Margin Deposit.
 - is appropriate only for Retail Clients who, if they trade on Margin, can assume risk of loss in excess of their Margin deposit.
- **2.2.** The Client acknowledges, recognizes and understands that:
 - because of the low Margin normally required in Margined Transactions, price changes in the underlying asset may result in significant losses, which may substantially exceed the Client's investment and Margin deposit
 - When the Client directs the Firm to execute a Transaction, any gains or losses resulting
 from fluctuations in the value of the asset or the Underlying Instrument shall be the sole
 responsibility and liability of the Client. The Firm shall not be accountable for any loss of
 profit or capital.
 - unless it is otherwise specifically agreed, the Firm shall not conduct any continuous monitoring of the Transactions already entered into by the Client neither individually or manually. Hence, the Firm cannot be held responsible for any Transactions that may develop differently from what the Client might have presupposed; and
 - assurances of guaranteed profits and immunity from losses are impossible in investment trading. The Client further confirms their understanding that neither the Firm, any Fund Manager, Referring Partner, Service Provider, nor their representatives, nor any other entity associated with the Client's Account, has provided such guarantees or similar representations.
- **2.3.** The Client acknowledges and understands that the information contained in the Risk Disclosure Policy and in Annex B cannot disclose the nature of all risks of all products or services or disclose everything about generic types of risk associated with trading.
 - The information contained in the Risk Disclosure Policy and in Annex B is a general description of the risks associated with the products provided by the Firm.
- **2.4.** The Firm does not provide any form of advisory services, including but not limited to tax, investment, or legal advice, except for the provision of general consultations to Clients. The Firm shall not be held responsible for any outcomes resulting from these general consultations.

3. DEALING AS PRINCIPAL

- **3.1.** The Firm will act as the Principal in executing any Transaction.
- **3.2.** Unless otherwise stipulated and agreed in writing with regard to the Firm, the Client shall engage in the Transactions as a Principal.



4. CLIENT CLASSIFICATION

- **4.1.** The Firm classifies its Clients into three main categories:
 - Eligible Counterparties: These are the most experienced Market Clients They are considered to have a high level of expertise and can access a wide range of financial instruments
 - Professional Clients: Individuals or entities with substantial financial experience, knowledge, and resources. They can opt for reduced regulatory protection in exchange for greater Market access and flexibility.
 - and Retail Clients: They are presumed to have limited financial experience and resources.
 They typically have less access to complex or high-risk financial products compared to Professional Clients and Eligible Counterparties.
- **4.2.** Retail Clients are afforded the most regulatory protection; Professional Clients and Eligible Counterparties are considered to be more experienced, knowledgeable and sophisticated and able to assess their own risk; they are thus afforded fewer regulatory protections as furthermore highlighted in the Notice Letter.
- **4.3.** The Firm classifies the Client based on the Client's Account opening documentation and as furthermore highlighted in the Notice Letter.
- **4.4.** Clients may choose to request a reclassification, allowing for a potential adjustment of their regulatory protection level. When such a reclassification request is made, the Client must meet specific quantitative and qualitative criteria. In response to the request, the Firm conducts a comprehensive assessment of the Client's expertise, experience, and knowledge, considering the nature of the expected transactions or Services. This assessment aims to reasonably establish the Client's ability to make independent investment decisions and grasp associated risks. Nevertheless, if the Client does not meet the specified criteria, the Firm retains the discretion to decide whether to offer Services under the requested classification.
- **4.5.** Following the approval of a reclassification request, it is important to note that the Firm will not be held accountable for any loss of profit or capital resulting from trading activities conducted subsequent to the reclassification.

5. PRODUCTS AND SERVICES

- **5.1.** The Client acknowledges that, despite entering into these Terms, the Firm retains the discretion to abstain from rendering any of the Services:
 - until all internal procedures for setting up Accounts within the Firm have been finalized and the required internal authorizations have been secured. or
 - In the event of the Client's failure to fulfill any of the obligations outlined in the Agreement with the Firm.

MSAMEX FX F*REX BROKER

- **5.2.** Subject to the Client fulfilling its obligations under these Terms, the Firm may enter into Transactions with the Client in the following investments and instruments:
 - Forward bullion, currencies, and OTC derivatives;
 - CFDs on commodities, securities, indices, currencies and base and precious metals;
 - options to acquire or dispose of any of the instruments above, including options on options;
 - such other instruments as the Firm may from time-to-time offer.
- **5.3.** The investments and instruments provided by the Firm may be:
 - Margined Transactions; or
 - Transactions in instruments which are: traded on a recognized or designated investment exchanges; traded on exchanges which are not recognized or designed investment exchanges; not traded on any stock or investment exchange; and/ or not immediately and readily realizable.
- 5.4. The Firm may, and at any time, cease to offer any Services and/ or remove products from its then prevailing offering. If the Client has an Open Position under a Service that is being terminated or in a product that is being removed for any reason whatsoever, the Firm will provide the Client with reasonable notice in writing, where possible, that it intends to terminate a Service or remove a product. The Firm aims to provide the Client with at least ten (3) Business Days' notice, where possible, in which to close any Open Position that it may hold on such affected Service or product. However, where in the Firm's reasonable opinion it is necessary or fair to do so, the Firm reserves the right to provide a shorter notice period or no notice at all. Where notice is given, the Client should cancel any Orders and/ or close any Open Positions in respect of such affected Services or products before the time specified in the Firm's notice. If the Client does not do this, the Firm will cancel any Orders and close down any Open Positions in respect of the affected Service or product at the time and in the manner specified in the notice. And the Firm will not be held liable for closing or stopping the Service.
- **5.5.** All transactions with the Client will be executed by the Firm on an execution-only basis, as outlined in Clause 3 of the Risk Disclosure Policy entitled "Execution Only Services".
- **5.6.** The Firm will not make any recommendations or advice on the merits of purchasing, selling, or otherwise dealing in particular investments or executing particular investments or executing particular Transactions, their taxation consequences or the composition of any account or any other rights or obligations attaching to such investments or Transactions.
- **5.7.** The Client should be aware that any explanation offered by the Firm, its employees, agents, directors or officers regarding the terms of a Transaction or its performance attributes does not constitute advice regarding the investment's merits, and does not attribute liability to the Firm.
- **5.8.** Where the Firm provides general trading recommendations, independent research, market commentary, guidance of shareholding disclosure or other information to Clients who receive an execution-only service:
 - this is incidental to the Firm's relationship with the Client and is provided solely to enable the Client to make independent investment decisions;



- the Client acknowledges that where such information is general and not specifically targeted at the Client, the information does not amount to a personal recommendation or advice;
- the Firm gives no representation, warranty or guarantee as to the accuracy or completeness of such information or as to the legal, tax, or accountancy consequences of any Transaction; and
- where the information is in the form of a document (electronic or otherwise) containing a
 restriction on the person or category of persons for whom that document is intended or to
 whom it is to be distributed to, the Client agrees that it will not pass on any information
 contrary to such restriction.

6. ACCESS AND USE OF THE TRADING PLATFORM AND/OR CLIENT PORTAL

- **6.1.** In order to use the Trading Platform and/ or the Client Portal, the Client will need to request a username and password ("Access Code") from the Firm. The Client will need to provide the Access Code each time it wishes to use the Trading Platform and/ or Client Portal.
- **6.2.** In relation to the Access Code, the Client acknowledges and undertakes that:
 - The Client will be responsible for the confidentiality and use of its Access Code;
 - Without the Firm's prior written consent, the Client shall not disclose the Access Code to any individual or for any purpose whatsoever. The Firm will not bear responsibility if the Client discloses or provides the Access Code to third parties without notifying the Firm.
 - The Firm may rely on all instructions, Orders and other communications entered using the Client's Access Code, and the Client will be bound by any Transaction entered into or expense incurred on its behalf in reliance on such instructions, Order and other communications; and
 - The Client shall promptly inform the Firm upon discovering the loss, theft, disclosure to a third party, or any unauthorized use of their Access Code. If any Transactions are executed by a third party due to the loss or theft of the Access Code, the Firm shall not be held responsible.
- **6.3.** If the Firm believes that unauthorized persons are using the Client's Access Code without the Client's knowledge, the Firm may, without prior notice, suspend the Client's rights to use the Trading Platform.
- **6.4.** If the Firm believes that the Client supplied its Access Code to other persons in breach of Clause 6.2 above, the Firm may terminate these Terms forthwith.
- **6.5.** Access to the Trading Platform and/ or Client Portal is provided "as is". The Firm makes no warranties, express or implied representations or guarantees as to the merchantability and/ or fitness for any particular purpose or otherwise with respect to the Trading Platform and/or Client Portal, their content, any documentation or any hardware of software provided. Technical difficulties could be encountered in connection with either the Trading Platform and/or Client Portal. These difficulties could involve, among others, failures, delays, malfunction, software erosion or hardware damage, which could be the result of hardware, software or communication link inadequacies or other causes. Such difficulties could lead to possible economic and/or data



loss. In no event will the Firm, any Associated Firm, or any of their employees be liable for any possible loss (including loss of profit or revenue whether direct or indirect), cost or damage including, without limitation, consequential, unforeseeable, special or indirect damages or expenses which might occur as a result of or arising out of using, accessing, installing, maintaining, modifying, de-activating, or attempting to access either the Trading Platform and/or Client Portal or otherwise.

6.6. Under no circumstances shall the Firm be held liable for any potential Loss that may occur due to, or in connection with, the use, access, installation, maintenance, modification, deactivation, or any attempt to access the Trading Platform or Client Portal, or any related activities.

7. DEALING BETWEEN THE FIRM AND THE CLIENT

- **7.1.** In accordance with these Terms and with the Order Execution Policy, the Client may request an indicative quote, provide the Firm (or any of its Associated Firms and/or Fund Managers where so permitted by the Firm) with oral or electronic instructions (which shall include instructions provided via the internet) or otherwise trade with the Firm as follows:
 - Generally, all requests for indicative quotes, orders for execution of Transactions between the Client and the Firm and other trade matters must be given to the Firm electronically through the Trading Platform, via email or by telephone where applicable;
 - Where the Client wishes to trade in CFDs, the Client should deal with the Firm in accordance with the terms of Annex A(Contracts for Difference).
- **7.2.** As stipulated in Clause 7.1 above, the Firm will provide the Client with quotes via the Trading Platform, via email or over the telephone where applicable. Verbal quotes provided by the Firm (or any of its Associated Firms or Fund Managers where permitted) are indicative only. Indicative quotes are provided for information purposes only and do not constitute an offer to buy or sell any product or instrument at that price. Where the Client places an Order at the Firm's then offered rate, the Client acknowledges that such rate may differ from the indicative quote provided by the Firm.
- 7.3. Any instruction sent via the Trading Platform, via email or by telephone where applicable shall only be deemed to have been received and shall only then constitute a valid instruction when such instruction has been recorded by the Firm and confirmed by the Firm to the Client via email or through the Trading Platform. An instruction shall not constitute a binding Transaction between the Firm and the Client even if accepted by the Firm. A binding Transaction between the Firm and the Client will only occur when an instruction is accepted, executed, recorded and confirmed by the Firm to the Client through the Trading Platform or via email, trade Confirmation and/or Account Statement. When instructions are given over the telephone the Firm or its affiliates and agents shall acknowledge the reception of the instructions orally in writing via email, as appropriate.
- **7.4.** The Firm retains the right to place trust in any instruction provided, or purported to be provided, by the Client or any other person acting on the Client's behalf, without the necessity for additional investigation into the authenticity, authorization, or identity of the person providing or claiming to provide such instructions. In doing so, the Firm shall not be held liable for such actions.



- **7.5.** The Firm may, at its discretion, refuse to accept any instruction from the Client, without giving any reasons or notice to the Client. Additionally, the Firm may refuse to execute any instruction with or without reason or notice and the Firm may cancel any instructions as previously given by the Client provided that the Firm has not acted on the Client's instructions. Acceptance of any instructions does not constitute any agreement or representation that the Firm will execute the instructions. A valid contract between the Client and the Firm will only be formed/closed and/or an instruction will only be executed when the Client receives a trade Confirmation in writing from the Firm or the Trading Platform shows that an instruction has been executed (whichever is earlier).
- **7.6.** When the Firm is dealing with the Client, it does so by either passing trades straight through to its liquidity providers, typically known as Straight Through Processing, or are matched up with other traders using the Firm's Electronic Communication Network (ECN). Both these methods of trading are preferred by many Clients, as this execution model allows a firm to make a profit regardless of whether a Client is profitable or not. This is due to the fact that the Firm under this set-up never takes the other side of the Client's trade and simply passes the risk onto its liquidity provider or trading using the Firm's ECN, which ensures that the interest of the Client and the Firm are aligned.
- **7.7.** If the Firm offsets positions against other clients/brokers, the Firm reserves the right to do so at different prices.

8. TRADING CONFIRMATIONS AND ACCOUNT STATEMENTS

- **8.1.** The Firm will provide the Client with general Account information through the Trading Platform and/or Client Portal. Account information will usually include Confirmations with ticket numbers, purchase and sale rates, used margin, amounts available for margin trading, statements of profits and losses, current open and pending positions and any other information as required by the Applicable Regulations. Updated Account information will generally be available no more than twenty-four (24) hours after any activity takes place on the Client's Account on the Trading Platform.
- **8.2.** The Client acknowledges and agrees that the posting of Confirmations will be deemed delivered when made available on the Trading Platform by the Firm to the Client. The Client may request receipt of Confirmations in hard copy or via email at any time by submitting a written request to the Firm. Confirmations shall, in the absence of Manifest Error or grossly obvious inaccuracies, be conclusive and binding on the Client, unless the Client notifies the Firm of its rejection in writing within two (2) Business Days of:
 - the Firm's posting of the Confirmation within the Trading Platform and/or Client Portal where the Client has not elected to receive trade Confirmation in hard copy or via email; or
 - dispatch of the Confirmation to the Client in hard copy or via email, where the Client has elected to receive Confirmations in hard copy or via email, or
 - if the Firm notifies the Client of an error in the Confirmation within the same period.



- **8.3.** Through the Trading Platform and/or Client Portal, the Client can generate daily, monthly and yearly reports of its Account. The provision of Account information is coupled with the Client's ability to generate such reports and will be deemed delivery of Account Statements by the Firm to the Client. The Client has an obligation to generate its own Account Statements at least once a month for the preceding month. The Client may request receipt of Account Statements in hard copy or via email at any time by submitting a written request to the Firm. Account Statement shall, in the absence of Manifest Error or grossly obvious inaccuracies, be conclusive and binding on the Client, unless the Client notifies the Firm of its rejection in writing within two (2) Business Days of:
 - The first day of each month (such rejection to pertain to the previous month in accordance with the Client's obligations under this Clause 8.3) where the Client has not elected to receive Account Statements in hard copy or via email; or
 - dispatch of the Account Statement to the Client in hard copy or via email, where the Client
 has elected to receive Account Statements in hard copy or via email, or if the Firm notifies
 the Client of an error in the Account Statement within the same period.

9. JOINT ACCOUNTS

- **9.1.** Where the Agreement is entered into between the Firm and more than one (1) person ("Joint Account Holder"), as regards to each Joint Account Holder (except where the Firm has agreed otherwise in writing):
 - both Joint Account Holders shall be considered as one Client and their obligations and liabilities under the Agreement are joint and several (which means, for instance, that anyone can withdraw the entire balance of the Account, and in the case of a debit balance or debt owed by the Client to the Firm, each Joint Account Holder is responsible for the repayment of the entire balance and not just a share of it);
 - each Joint Account Holder have full authority (as full as if they were the only person
 entering into the Agreement) on behalf of the other to give or receive any instruction,
 notice, request or acknowledgement without notice to the others, including an instruction
 to liquidate and/ or withdraw investments from any Account and/or close any Account;
 - the Firm may in its sole and absolute discretion, require an instruction request or demand to be given by all Joint Account Holders before the Firm takes any action for any reason or no reason whatsoever
 - any Joint Account Holder may give the Firm an effective and final discharge in respect of any obligations under the Agreement; and
 - upon the death of any Joint Account Holder, the Firm will transfer the investments and the
 responsibility for any obligations connected with the Account into the surviving Joint
 Account Holder's sole name. These Terms will remain in full force between the Firm and
 the surviving Joint Account Holder.
- **9.2.** Unless a different arrangement is documented in writing between the Firm and the Joint Account Holders, the Firm is authorized to establish communication and conduct transactions exclusively with the Joint Account Holder listed as the primary individual in the Firm's records.
- **9.3.** Either Joint Account Holder may ask the Firm to convert the Account into a sole Account. The Firm may (but shall not be obliged) require written consent of all Joint Account Holders before doing so. Any Joint Account Holder removed from the Account will continue to be liable for all



- obligations and liabilities under the Agreement relating to the period before they were removed from the Account.
- **9.4.** The Firm shall maintain meticulous records of communications, instructions, and transactions related to the joint Account to resolve any potential disputes that may arise between the Joint Account Holders, and the Firm shall not bear liability for any such disputes.

10. COMMISSIONS, CHARGES, AND OTHER COSTS

- **10.1.** The Client shall be obliged to pay the Firm for the commissions and charges set out in the Financial Terms, and any additional commissions and charges agreed in writing between the Firm and Client from time to time whether in the Financial Terms or not.
- **10.2.** The Firm reserves the right to amend the Financial Terms from time to time, with notice to the Client. The Client is responsible for regularly reviewing the Financial Terms for any modifications and agrees to be bound by the same.
- **10.3.** Independent of Clauses 10.1 and 10.2 above, the Firm shall be entitled to demand that the following expenses are paid separately by the Client with notice:
 - all extraordinary disbursements resulting from the Client relationship (e.g. telephone, , courier, and postal expenses) in cases where the Client requests hard copy Confirmation, Account Statements etc. which the Firm could have delivered in electronic form;
 - any expenses of the Firm caused by the Client's non-performance of its obligations under these Terms, including a fee determined by the Firm in relation to forwarding of reminders, legal assistance, etc.;
 - administration fees in connection with security deposits, and any expenses of the Firm in relation to a pledge, if provided, including any insurance premium payments;
 - the expenses will be charged either as a fixed amount corresponding to payments effected, or as a percentage or hourly rate corresponding to the Service performed in-house. The methods of calculations may be combined. The Firm reserves the right to introduce new expenses.
- **10.4.** The Firm may receive remuneration from, or share commissions and charges with, its associates, liquidity providers, the Client's Referring Partner, Fund Manager or other third parties in connection with Transactions carried out on the Client's behalf. The Firm or any associate may benefit from commission, mark-ups, mark-downs or any other remuneration where it acts for the counterparty to a Transaction. Details of such remuneration or sharing arrangements will be made available to the Client following a written request.
- **10.5.** Unless specified otherwise in the Terms, all amounts due to the Firm (or Fund Managers, Referring Partners used by the Client) under the Terms shall be deducted from any monies held by the Firm for the Client.
- **10.6.** If the Firm receives or recovers any commission, cost, expense, fee or any other amount in respect of a Client's obligations under these Terms in a currency other than that in which the amount was payable, whether pursuant to a judgment of any court or otherwise, the Client shall indemnify the Firm and hold the Firm harmless from and against any cost (including costs of



conversion) and loss suffered by the Firm as a result of receiving such amount in a currency other that the currency in which it was due.

11. PAYMENT, WITHDRAWAL AND SET-OFF

- **11.1.** The Client agrees to comply with the following when making payments to the Firm under these Terms:
 - payments due (including deposits) will be required in Pounds Sterling, United States
 Dollars, Euros, or any other currency specified by the Firm from time to time;
 - the Client may make any payment due to the Firm (including deposits) by bank wire or any other method specified by the Firm from time to time. Unless otherwise agreed between the Firm and the Client, the Firm will not accept payments or deposits in the form of cash;
 - the Client is responsible for all third party electronic, telegraphic transfer, or other bank fees in respect of payment as well as any fees or charges imposed by the Firm, which may be based on the elected payment method. Any fees or charged imposed by the Firm will be listed on the Financial Terms;
 - If the Firm does not receive any payment by its due date,, then (without limitation of any other rights the Firm may have) the Firm will be entitled to charge interest on the overdue amount (both before and after judgment) at the interest rate prescribed in the Financial Terms from the date payment was due until the actual date of payment;
 - any payment made to the Firm will only be deemed to have been received when the Firm receives cleared funds; and
 - the Client bears the responsibility to ensure that payments made to the Firm are correctly
 designated in all respects, specifying without limitation the Client's Account details where
 required by the Firm.
- 11.2. The Client will be asked to designate a Base Currency for its Account which shall either be Pounds Sterling, United States Dollars, Euros, or any other currency specified by the Firm from time to time. Where the Client wishes to deposit funds in its Account in a currency other than its designated Base Currency, the Firm will convert such funds into the Client's Base Currency unless the Firm accepts alternative instructions from the Client. The terms of this Clause 11.2 will also apply where any interest or payments made by the Firm to the Client's Account are in a currency other than the Client's Base Currency.
- **11.3.** Where the Client has a positive balance in its Account, the Client may request a withdrawal from the Firm, for any portion of the positive balance. The Firm may at its sole and absolute discretion withholds, deduct or refuse to make a payment (in whole or in part) due to the Client where:
 - the Client has Open Positions on the Account showing a loss;
 - the requested payment would reduce the Client's Account balance to less than the Margin required for the Client's Open Positions
 - the Firm reasonably considers that funds may be required to meet any current or future Margin Requirement on Open Positions due to underlying market conditions;
 - the Client has any actual or contingent liability to the Firm, its associates or its Associated Firms; and/or
 - the Firm reasonably determines that there is an unresolved dispute between the Firm and the Client relating to the Agreement.



- **11.4.** All payments from the Client's Account shall be made in the form of a return payment by bank wire transfer.
- 11.5. All payments from the Client's Account will be made in the Base Currency of that Account, unless the Client and the Firm agree in advance that such payment should be made in a different currency. The terms of this Clause 11.5 will also apply where any interest, costs, commissions or other charges to be debited from the Client's Account are in a currency other than the Client's Base Currency. Where the Client and the Firm agree that such payment should be made in a different currency, the Firm will convert the relevant payment amount from the Base Currency to the then agreed currency for payment.
- **11.6.** Whenever the Firm conducts currency conversions, the Firm will do so at such reasonable rate of exchange as the Firm selects. The Firm shall be entitled to add a mark-up to the exchange rates. The Firm is not liable for any losses resulting from currency conversion.
- **11.7.** Unless the Firm provides the Client with a written notice to the contrary, all payments and deliveries by the Firm to the Client will be made on a net basis and the Firm shall not be obliged to deliver or make payment to the Client unless and until the Client provides the Firm with the appropriate documents or cleared funds.
- 11.8. Notwithstanding the Firm's prerogative to request payment from the Client in compliance with these Terms, the Firm retains the authority to offset any losses or debit balances in any Accounts, including joint accounts and those held with an Associated Firm, in which the Client holds an interest. Should any such loss or debit balance surpass the funds on hand, the Client is obligated to promptly remit the excess amount to the Firm, regardless of whether a formal demand is made. Furthermore, the Client grants the Firm permission to offset funds maintained by the Firm for the Client's benefit in a joint account against any losses incurred by the Joint Account Holder. The Client also authorizes the Firm to offset any losses or debit balances in accounts held by the Client with an Associated Firm against any credits in the Client's Account, which may include joint accounts, maintained with the Firm.

12. CLIENT MONEY

- **12.1.** When the Clients deposits Money with the Firm, they acknowledge that these Money are intended solely for trading purposes and to facilitate potential Transactions with the Firm. Consequently, these Money are allocated to secure or cover their current, future, actual, contingent, or potential obligations to the Firm. The Clients should refrain from depositing any Money with the Firm that are not intended for trading and the fulfillment of their existing or anticipated obligations to the Firm.
- **12.2.** The Client acknowledges and agrees that the Firm shall not be held liable for any losses of profit or loss of capital incurred due to Market conditions.
- **12.3.** Where the Firm classifies the Client as a Retail Client:



- subject to the Terms, Client Money will be maintained separately from the Firm's funds, in a manner that facilitates clear identification and distinguishes it as belonging to the Clients.
- the Firm may:
 - (1) deposit Client Money in bank accounts; and/or
 - (2) allow a third party, such as an exchange, a clearing house, or an intermediate broker, to hold or control Client Money where the Firm transfers the Client Money for the purposes of a Transaction for the Client through or with that party (for example, a Margin Requirement);
- unless otherwise agreed in writing, the Client acknowledges and agrees that the Firm will
 not pay the Client interest on Client Money or any other unencumbered funds. The Client
 expressly waives any entitlement to interest under the Client Money Rules or otherwise;
- the Firm is not responsible for the solvency, acts or omissions of any bank or other third party with which Client Money is held; and
- The Client acknowledges that the Firm reserves the right to stop considering any balance held on the Client's behalf as Client Money in the event that the Firm determines that there has been no activity on the balance for a period of six (2) years, even in cases where charges, interest, or similar transactions have occurred. This action will be taken if, despite reasonable efforts to contact the Client, the Firm is unable to locate or communicate with him.
- **12.4.** Where the Firm classifies the Client as a Professional and/or Eligible Counterparty Client:
 - Any funds received by the Firm from the Client or a third party on behalf of the Client's Account shall be deemed as owed by the Firm to the Client. Given that the Client Money Rules do not govern this scenario, the Client does not possess a proprietary claim over funds transferred to the Firm. The Firm retains the discretion to deal with these funds autonomously. The Firm will transfer an equivalent sum of money back to the Client in cases where repayment is due, or, at the sole and absolute discretion of the Firm, when it deems that the amount of money the Client has transferred to the Firm exceeds the amount necessary to cover the Client's current, future, actual, contingent, or prospective obligations to the Firm.
 - In determining both the Margin amount and the Firm's obligations to the Client, the Firm may employ suitable methodologies, including assessments of future market movements and valuations, consistent with Applicable Regulations.
 - the Client explicitly recognizes that funds transferred to the Firm will not be kept in a segregated account separate from the Firm's own funds. In the unfortunate event of insolvency or a comparable financial collapse, the Client's claims will be treated on par with those of other general creditors of the Firm.
 - the Client represents and warrants to the Firm that it is the sole owner of or otherwise has the right to transfer all money it transfers to the Firm free and clean of any security interest, lien, encumbrance, or any other restriction; and
 - unless otherwise agreed in writing, the Client acknowledges and agrees that the Firm will
 not pay the Client interest on any money provided to the Firm under this Clause 12(Client
 Money). The Client therefore expressly waives any entitlement to any interest.
- **12.5.** The Firm may occasionally receive deposits or payments into its accounts that, despite reasonable efforts, cannot be directly associated with a specific Client. Such scenarios may arise



for various reasons, including instances where Clients transfer funds to the Firm without adhering to established procedures or neglecting to provide essential Account references. In such cases, the Firm will temporarily hold these funds in a separate account and diligently strive to determine the rightful owner. If, after a reasonable period, the Firm is still unable to attribute the funds, the Firm will take steps to return them to the originating bank or source of transfer.

The Firm strongly urge Clients to comply with designated deposit procedures and exercise caution in reviewing their Account details when transferring funds to the Firm, ensuring that all funds are accurately allocated.

13. CLIENT ASSETS

- **13.1.** The Client agrees that the Firm will act as a custodian of the Client's assets which it may from time to time agree to safeguard and administer under the Terms. Subject to the Terms, and where so designated, the Firm will treat assets received from the Client or held by the Firm on the Client's behalf in accordance with the Client Asset Rules. Client assets will be held separate from the Firm's assets under arrangements designed to ensure that Client assets are easily identified as assets belonging to its customers.
- 13.2. The Firm shall open one or more custody accounts in the name of its general customer population recording any shares, stocks, debentures, bonds, securities, or other similar property (including evidence of or title to securities and all rights in respect of securities) deposited or transferred by the Client or on the Client's behalf with or to the Firm or the Firm's sub-custodian or collected by the Firm or the Firm's sub-custodians for the Client's Account (hereinafter, "Custody Assets"). The Firm shall at all times reserve the right to reverse any provisional or erroneous entries (including reversals necessary to reflect adjustments by the Firm's sub-custodian to its records as a result of bad deliveries) to the custody accounts with effect back-valued to the date upon which the final or correct entry (or no entry) should have been made.
- **13.3.** Custody Assets which are in registerable form may be registered in the Client's name or in the name of the Firm's Nominee. The Client agrees that registerable Custody Assets may also be registered in the name of a third part or in the Firm's name, but only if the particular Custody Asset is subject to the law or market practice of an overseas jurisdiction, it is in the Client's best interest or it is not feasible to do otherwise.
- **13.4.** The Firm may from time-to-time delegate to sub-custodians, nominees, agents, depositories, clearing houses and clearing systems and which may include Associated Firms any of the duties under these custody terms including (without limitation) the safekeeping of the Custody Assets (together "Third Parties"). The Firm will not be responsible for the solvency, acts or omissions of any Third Party with which the Custody Assets are held. Consequently, if the Third Party becomes insolvent, there may be some risk to the Client's Custody Assets.
- **13.5.** The Firm may use a Third Party in a country where the holding and safekeeping of the financial instruments are not regulated. The Firm will only do so when the nature of the financial instruments or of the other services provided to the Client requires them to be deposited with such a Third Party.



- **13.6.** The Client's Custody Assets may be held overseas by a Third Party on the Firm's behalf, and furthermore:
 - the Client's Custody Assets may be held in a pooled account by the Third Party, and there
 is a risk that the Client's Custody Assets could be withdrawn or used to meet obligations of
 other customers, or that the balance of assets held by the Third Party do es not reconcile
 to hold, and the Client may not in such circumstances receive its full entitlement of Custody
 Assets;
 - in some jurisdictions, it may not be possible to identify separately the Custody Assets which a Third Party holds for Clients from those which is holds for itself or for the Firm, and there is a risk that the Client's Custody Assets could be withdrawn or used to meet the obligations of the Third Party, or lost altogether if the Third Party becomes insolvent; and
- **13.7.** The Client acknowledges and agrees that a depositary may have a lien, right of retention, right of set-off or sale, and/ or other security interests over the Client's Custody Assets based on properly incurred charges and liabilities arising from the provision of custody services by the depositary to the Firm and in respect of Custody Assets held by the depositary on behalf of the Client or the Firm's customers.

14. TAX

- **14.1.** The Firm shall not provide any advice to the Client on any tax issue related to any Services. The Client is advised to obtain individual and independent counsel with respect to tax implications of the respective Services.
- **14.2.** The Client is responsible for the payment of all taxes that may arise in relation to its Transactions.

15. CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

- **15.1.** The Firm, its associates or Associated Firms, may have an interest in relation to any Transaction affected, or advice provided by the Firm under the Agreement.
- **15.2.** The Firm is required to take reasonable steps to identify and manage conflicts of interest between the Firm and its Clients as well as conflicts of interest between Clients that arise in the course of the Firm's provision of Services. The Firm operates in accordance with a **Conflict-of-Interest Policy** it has designed for this purpose (where it identified those situations in which conflicts of interest may arise, and in each case, the steps the Firm has taken to mitigate and manage that conflict). The Firm's Conflict of Interest Policy is available on the Firm's website and can be sent via email upon the Client's written request.
- **15.3.** The Firm is under no obligation to:



- disclose to the Client that the Firm, its associates or Associated Firms have a material
 interest in a particular Transaction with or for the Client, provided the Firm has managed
 such conflicts in accordance with its "Conflict of Interest Policy";
- disclose to the Client or take into consideration any fact, matter or finding which might involve a breach of confidence to any other person, or which come to the notice of any of the employees or agents, where the individual(s) dealing with the Client have no actual notice of such fact, matter or finding; or
- account to the Client for any profit, commission or remuneration made or received from
 or by reasons of any Transactions or circumstances in which the Firm, its associates or
 Associated Firms have material interest or where in particular circumstances a conflict of
 interest may exist.

16. REFERRING PARTNERS, FUND MANAGERS AND SERVICE PROVIDERS

- **16.1.** The Client may have been referred to the Firm by a Referring Partner, Fund Manager and/or may utilize any third-party system, course, program, software or trading platform offered by a Service Provider. If so, the Firm shall not be responsible for any promise, advise or agreement made between the Client and the Client's Referring Partner, Fund Manager and/or Service Provider, or lack thereof.
- **16.2.** The Client further acknowledges that its Referring Partner, Fund Manager, and/or Service Provider is/are not authorized to make any representations concerning the Firm or the Firm's Services.
- **16.3.** The Firm does not control, and cannot endorse or vouch for the accuracy or completeness of any information advice or product the Client may have received or may receive in the future from a Referring Partner, Fund Manager and/or Service Provider.
- **16.4.** The Client understands and acknowledges that the Referring Partner, Fund Manager and/or Service Provider may not be regulated by a government agency or regulatory authority and the Firm does not endorse or vouch for the services provided by a Referring Partner, Fund Manager and/or Service Provider. It is the Client's responsibility to properly evaluate a Referring Partner, Fund Manager and/or Service Provider before engaging its services.
- **16.5.** The Client is specifically made aware that the Client's agreement with its Referring Partner, Fund Manager and/or Service Provider may result in additional costs for the Client as the Firm may pay a one-off fee or regularly Annexed fees or commissions to such person or entity from the Client's Account.
- **16.6.** The Client is also specifically made aware that the Client's agreement with its Referring Partner, Fund Manager and/or Service Provider may result in additional costs for the Client where the Client and Referring Partner, Fund Manager and/or Service Provider agree to compensation on a per trade basis to be based on the Client's trading activity and withdrawn from the Client's Account. Such compensation to the Referring Partner, Fund Manager and/or the Service



Provider may require the Client to incur a mark-up, above and beyond the ordinary spread provided by the Firm.

- 16.7. The Client acknowledges and accepts that frequent transactions may result in a sum of total commissions, fees and/or charges that may be substantial and may not necessarily be offset by the net profits, if any, achieved from the relevant trades. The responsibility for correctly assessing whether the size of the total commissions, fees and/or charges for trades conducted and paid from the Client's Account is commercially viable is the combined responsibility of the Client and the Referring Partner, Fund Manager and/or Service Provider. The Firm only acts as custodian and principal broker, and therefore is not responsible for the size of the commissions, fees and/or charges paid by the Client.
- 16.8. Where the Client engages the services of a Referring Partner, Fund Manager and/or Service Provider, the Client understands and agrees that the Referring Partner, Fund Manager, and/or Service Provider will have access to the Client's personal information held by the Firm, including the Client's trading activity. The Client further understands that its Referring Partner, Fund Manager and/or Service Provider may have been introduced to the Firm by a third party who is compensated in part based on the introduction of the Client to the Firm, or on the Client's trading history. Where this occurs, the Client agrees that the third party who introduced the Referring Partner, Fund Manager and/or Service Provider will have access to the Client's personal information held by the Firm including the Client's trading activity.
- **16.9.** If the Referring Partner, Fund Manager and/or Service Provider undertake any deductions from the Client's Account according to any agreement between the Client and the Referring Partner, Fund Manager and/or Service Provider, the Firm has no responsibility as to the existence or validity of such an agreement.
- **16.10.** Any commissions, fees or charges may be shared between the Referring Partner, Fund Manager and/ or Service Provider, the Firm and third parties according to the Referring Partner, Fund Manager and/or Service Provider's writing instructions and/or the Firm's discretion.

17. MANAGED ACCOUNTS

- **17.1.** At the Client's written request, the Firm may allow a third party, selected by the Client, to be the Client's Attorney, managing the Client's Account, for the following purposes:
 - to enter into, modify, and/ or close Transactions with the Firm;
 - to set, edit, and/ or delete all dealing preferences relating to the Account;
 - to enter into any agreements with the Firm on behalf of the Client, which relate to Transactions on the Account;
 - to communicate with the Firm on behalf of the Client regarding any complaints or disputes that the Client or Firm may have against one another in relation to the Account; and/or
 - to transfer money between the Account(s) and between any other account that the Client holds with the Firm.
- **17.2.** Where a Client wishes to have its Account managed by a third party, the Client must submit a Limited Power of Attorney between the Client and the Attorney to the Firm in a form acceptable

MSAMEX FX F * R E X B R O K E R

by the Firm it its sole and absolute discretion. The Firm, Client and Attorney will be bound by the Agreement.

- 17.3. The Firm reserves the right, at any time and in its sole and absolute discretion, to require the Client to trade its Account. This would require the Client to revoke its grant of authority to its Attorney and take all actions on its Account itself. Where the Firm so requires, the Firm will notify the Client and the Attorney of its decision. The Firm need not specify its reasons for requiring the Client to trade its Account.
- **17.4.** The Firm's acceptance of a Limited Power of Attorney between the Client and the Attorney is conditional upon the Attorney opening an Account with the Firm in its personal capacity and maintaining that Account for the entire period that it acts as Fund Manager for the Client. The Attorney is not required to fund the personal account, nor is the Attorney required to conduct any Transactions on the personal account.
- **17.5.** The Client agrees to reimburse the Firm for any loss, damage or expense incurred by the Firm as a result of:
 - The Firm's execution of instructions from the Attorney that exceed the authority granted in the Limited Power of Attorney.; or
 - the Attorney's breach of any term of the Limited Power of Attorney.
- **17.6.** The Firm shall allow the Attorney subject to the authorization granted by the Client in the Limited Power of Attorney to transfer part or all of the Client's funds back to the originating account held by the Client.
- **17.7.** Where the Client agrees to compensate its Attorney directly from the Account, the Client shall submit to the Firm a written compensation arrangement in a form acceptable to the Firm.
- **17.8.** Where the Client has appointed a Fund Manager for its Account, the Client may select the type of management module to be used by the Fund Manager, which shall be noted on any Limited Power of Attorney, and the Client acknowledges and accepts the following:
 - the Fund Manager may be restricted from making any transactions in the Client's Account
 while the system performs any necessary adjustments during settlement and rollovers, and
 the Client will be responsible for the market movement during this period;
 - the Client may be restricted from making any Account Transactions until the end of the following Business Day; and
 - the Client may receive limited intraday reports of the activity that occurred on the Account.
- **17.9.** The Client authorizes the Firm to accept all instructions given to it by the Attorney, whether orally or in writing, in relation to the Account. The Firm shall not be obliged to make any enquiry of the Client or of any other person before acting on such instructions.
- 17.10. The Client ratifies and accepts full responsibility and liability for all instructions given to the Firm by the Attorney (and for all Transactions that may be entered into as a result) and will indemnify the Firm and keep it indemnified against any loss, damage or expense incurred by the Firm as a result of its acting on such instructions. The indemnity shall be effective irrespective of the circumstances giving rise to such loss, damage or expense, and irrespective of any knowledge, acts or omissions of the Firm in relation to any other account held by any other person or body



(including the Attorney) with the Firm. The Client further agrees that this indemnity shall extend to loss, damage or expense incurred by the Firm in reversing incorrect or erroneous instructions submitted by the Attorney that result in a Transaction that must, for the protection of the Firm or its other clients or for the reasons of market integrity, be reversed.

- **17.11.** The Firm hereby notifies the Client that the Attorney is not an employee, Fund Manager, or representative of the Firm and further that the Attorney does not have any power or authority to act on behalf of the Firm or to bind the Firm in any way.
- 17.12.Unless a different arrangement is formalized in written agreement between the Firm and the Client, the Firm reserves the right to periodically engage in direct communication with the Attorney concerning the Account. The Client provides consent for such communication and acknowledges that any correspondence sent by the Firm to the Attorney will be considered as received by the Client simultaneously with its reception by the Attorney. The Firm shall not bear responsibility for any miscommunication between the Client and their Attorney.
- **17.13.**By furnishing the Firm with a Limited Power of Attorney, the Client grants consent and authorizes the Firm to share with the Attorney all information in the Firm's possession concerning the Client's Account.
- 17.14. The Client acknowledges and accepts that, in providing an electronic or online trading system to the Attorney, the Firm has the right but not the obligation to set limits, controls, parameters and/or other controls on the Attorney's ability to use such a system. The Client accepts that if the Firm chooses not to place any such limits or controls on the Attorney's trading, or if such limits or controls fail for any reason, the Firm will not exercise oversight or control over instructions given by the Attorney and the Client accepts full responsibility and liability for the Attorney's actions in such circumstances.
- 17.15.If the Client wishes to revoke or amend a grant of authorization under a Limited Power of Attorney, it must provide a written notice of such intention to the Firm from time to time. Any such notice shall not be effective until two (2) working days after the Firm receives it (unless the Firm advises the Client that a shorter period will apply). The Client acknowledges that it will remain liable for all instructions given to the Firm prior to the revocation/variation being effective, and that it will be responsible for any losses, which may arise on any Transactions that are open at such time.

18. MARGIN

18.1. As a condition of entering into a Margined Transaction, the Firm may in its sole and absolute discretion require the deposit of funds or other collateral acceptable to it as a security for payment of any losses incurred by the Client in respect of any Transaction ("Margin"). The Client must satisfy any and all Margin Requirements immediately as a condition to opening the relevant Margined Transaction and the Firm may decline to open any Margined Transaction if the Client does not have sufficient funds in its Account to satisfy the Margin Requirement for that Transaction at the time the relevant Order is placed, and for the avoidance of doubt, the Margin Requirements are set separately when the Client opens two (2) separate accounts with



the Firm on the Trading Program and the Multi Product Platform. Therefore, it is the sole responsibility of the Client to ensure that each Account with the Firm has sufficient Margin on account at all times.

- **18.2.** The Client also has a continuing Margin obligation to the Firm to ensure that its Account balance, taking into account its P&L is equal to or greater than the Margin Requirement for all of the Client's Open Positions.
- **18.3.** For the avoidance of doubt, the Client is obliged to maintain in its Account, at all times, sufficient funds to meet all Margin Requirements. If the Client believes that it cannot or will not be able to meet the Margin Requirement, the Client should reduce its open margined positions or transfer adequate funds to the Firm.
- **18.4.** In the event the Client wishes to transfer funds from one of its Accounts with the Firm to another one of its Accounts with the Firm, then the Client can do so at the Firm's sole and absolute discretion, and subject to its consent, when given, the Client shall allow not less than three (3) Business Days for the transfer to be effected.
- **18.5.** Where there is any shortfall between the Client's Account balance (taking into account P&L) and the Client's Margin Requirement for all open Transactions, the Firm may in its sole and absolute discretion choose to close or terminate one, several, or all of the Client's open Margined positions immediately, with or without notice to the Client. If the Firm may close one, several, or all of the Client's Margined Transactions, the Client should expect that the Firm will close all of the Client's Margined Transactions.
- **18.6.** Where the Client is near breach or in breach of any Margin Requirements, the Firm may make a Margin Call Warning in accordance with these Terms. The Firm is not obliged to make Margin Call Warnings to the Client at all or within any specific time period.
 - Margin Call Warnings may be made at any time and in any way permitted under these Terms. For this reason, it is in the Client's best interest to keep the Firm regularly apprised of changes in its contact details. The Firm shall be deemed to have made a Margin Call Warning if it notifies the Client electronically via the Trading Platform or via email.
- **18.7.** The Firm shall not be liable to for any failure to contact the Client with respect to a Margin Call Warning. Should the Firm make a Margin Call Warning, the terms and conditions of the Margin Call Warning will be detailed within such warning and the Firm reserves the right to change the terms and conditions of any Margin Call Warning based on market conditions, including without limitation any actions from third party providers which are outside the Firm's control, with or without notice to the Client. The Firm's right to close out the Client's open Transactions as provided in Clause 18.5 above shall not be limited or restricted by any Margin Call Warning if or where made.
- **18.8.** The Client may by a written agreement with the Firm satisfy Margin Requirements and/or a Margin Call Warning by providing collateral in a form acceptable to the Firm.
- **18.9.** The Client may access details of Margin amounts paid and owing by logging into the Trading Platform. The Client acknowledges:



- that the Client is responsible for monitoring and paying the Margin required at all times for all Margined Transactions with the Firm; and
- that the Client's obligation to pay Margin will exist whether or not the Firm contacts the Client regarding any outstanding Margin obligations.
- **18.10.** The Firm's Margin Requirements for different types of Margined Transactions are generally displayed on the Firm's website, and in certain instances, the Firm may notify the Client of Margin Requirements through alternative means. However, the Firm reserves the right to determine specific Margin Requirements for individual Margin Transactions.
- **18.11.** Margin will not be required where the Firm has expressly agreed to reduce or waive all or part of the Margin that the Firm would otherwise require the Client to pay in respect of a Transaction. The period of such waiver or reduction may be temporary or may be in place until further notified. Any such waiver or reduction must be agreed in writing (including by email) and will not limit, fetter or restrict the Firm's right to seek further Margin from the Client in respect of that Transaction or any Transaction thereafter.
- **18.12.**The Client is specifically made aware that the Margin Requirements are subject to change without notice including without limitation the Margin rates governing the Client's open Margined positions. When a Margined position has been opened, the Firm may close the Margin Transaction at its discretion or at the Client's instruction where possible, or according to the Firm's rights under these Terms.
- **18.13.**If the Client has opened more than one Account with the Firm or any Associated Firm, the Firm is entitled to transfer money or security from one Account to another to satisfy Margin requirements, in its sole and absolute discretion, even if such transfer will necessitate the closing of open Margined positions or cancellation of orders on the Account from which the transfer takes place.

19. SECURITY

- **19.1.** As a continuing security interest for the performance of all the Client's obligations (whether actual, contingent, present or future) to the Firm under or pursuant to the Agreement ("Secured Obligations"), the Client grants to the Firm, with full title guarantee, a first fixed security interest in all Custody Assets now or in the future provided by the Client to the Firm or to the Firm's order or under the Firm's direction or control or that of an exchange or Market or otherwise standing to the credit of the Client's account under these Terms or otherwise held by the Firm, its Associated Firms on the Client's behalf.
- **19.2.** The Client agrees to execute all documents and take such further steps as the Firm may reasonably require perfecting the Firm's security interest over, be registered as owner of or obtain legal title to the Custody Assets, further secure the Secured Obligations, enable the Firm to exercise its rights, or to satisfy any market requirement.
- **19.3.** The Client may not withdraw or substitute any property subject to the Firm's security interest without the Firm's consent.



- **19.4.** The Client commits not to establish, hold, or agree to any form of security interest in, assignment, or transfer of any of the Custody Assets provided to the Firm, with the exception of a lien that is standard and typically imposed on all securities within a clearing system where such securities are held.
- **19.5.** The Client agrees that the Firm may, free of any adverse interest of the Client or any other person, grant a security interest over Custody Assets provided by the Client to cover any of the Firm's obligations to an intermediate broker, Market, or exchange, including obligations owed by virtue of the positions held by the Firm or any of its customers.
- **19.6.** In addition, and without prejudice to any rights that the Firm may be entitled to under the Agreement or any Applicable Regulations, the Firm shall have a general lien on all property held by the Firm, its Associated Firms on the Client's behalf until the satisfaction of the Secured Obligations.
- 19.7. Any action carried out by the Firm in relation to or as a result of a Transaction when an Event of Default, as specified in Clause 22.1 of these Terms, has occurred (regardless of whether the Firm is aware of it) is entirely without prejudice to the Firm's prerogative to decline further performance subsequently. Such actions should not, under any circumstances, be construed as a waiver of this right or any other rights that the Firm may possess in the event of an Event of Default.

20. APPROPRIATENESS

- **20.1.** If, on the Client's own initiative, the Client requests the Firm to provide it with execution-only dealing services in Non-Complex Products, the Firm is not required to assess the appropriateness of the instrument or the Service provided or offered to the Client. As a result, the Client will not benefit from the protection of the Applicable Regulations on assessing appropriateness. Accordingly, when giving Orders or instructions to the Firm, the Client must rely upon its own judgement. The Client should get independent advice from an authorized investment adviser if it has any doubt.
- **20.2.** Where the Firm is providing execution-only services to the Client in relation to Complex Products, the Firm is required to assess whether it is appropriate for the Client to trade in a Complex Product by requesting from the Client certain information relating to its experience and knowledge of trading such products, which will assist the Firm to assess whether the Client understands the risks associated with dealing in them. The aforementioned information will be requested by the Firm during the Account opening procedure; however, the Firm may need to request from the Client additional information in the future, especially if the Client opts to deal in a new product type or sector.
- **20.3.** If the Client does not provide sufficient information to allow the Firm to carry out the appropriateness assessment, or does not provide any information at all, the Firm will be unable to assess whether the Client has the necessary knowledge and experience to understand the risks involved. If the Client still wishes for the Firm to proceed on the Client's behalf, the Firm



may do so at its reasonable discretion. If the Firm does so, the Client should note that the Firm may not be able to determine whether dealing in a particular Complex Product is appropriate for the Client or is in the Client's best interests.

- 20.4. If, on the basis of the information which the Client has supplied to the Firm in relation to the Client's knowledge and experience, the Firm considers dealing in the particular Complex Product is not appropriate, the Firm will warn the Client of this. If the Client still wishes the Firm to proceed on the Client's behalf, the Firm may do so at its reasonable discretion. If the Firm does so, the Client should note that it may not be appropriate for the Client, and that the Client may be exposing itself to risks that fall outside its knowledge and experience and/or which the Client may not have the knowledge or experience to properly assess and/or control to mitigate their consequences to the Client, and where the Client undertakes that it shall be fully liable for all Transactions effected with the Firm. The Firm will not be held liable.
- **20.5.** Notwithstanding the aforementioned, where the Firm carried out an appropriateness assessment on the Client, the Client may still seek independent advice from an authorized investment adviser if it has any doubt about dealing in Complex Products.

21. REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES AND COVENANTS

- **21.1.** Representations and warranties are personal statements, assurances or undertakings given by the Client to the Firm on which the Firm relies when dealing with the Client. The Client makes the following representations and warranties at the time it enters into this Agreement and every time it places a Transaction or gives the Firm any other instruction:
 - where the Client is a natural person, the Client is of sound mind, and over 18 years old;
 - the Client is aware of the risks involved in trading each investment product with the Firm;
 - the Client and/or any person(s) entering into these Terms and performing any Transactions on the Client's behalf, has all necessary authority, powers, consents, licenses and authorizations, and has taken all necessary actions to enable it to lawfully enter into and perform its obligations under these Terms, and/or to place any Orders or instructions;
 - these Terms as well as each Transaction and the obligations created under them are binding upon the Client and enforceable against it (subject to applicable principles of equity) and currently do not and in the future will not violate the terms of any regulation, order, charge or agreement by which the Client is bound;
 - no Event of Default has occurred or is occurring with respect to the Client or any Credit Support Provider;
 - the Client is in compliance with all laws to which it is subject including, without limitation, all tax laws and regulations, exchange control requirements and registration requirements;
 - except where the Firm and Client have agreed otherwise in writing, the Client acts as Principal and is not acting as any other person's agent or representative;
 - all information which the Client provides or has provided to the Firm (whether in the Account opening process or otherwise) is true, accurate and not misleading in any material respect;
 - the Client is willing and financially able to sustain a total loss of funds resulting from Transactions;



- the Client has consistent and uninterrupted access to internet service and any email address provided in its Account opening documentation;
- money, investments or other assets supplied by the Client for any purpose shall, subject to
 the Terms, at all times be free from any charge, lien, pledge or encumbrance and shall be
 beneficially owned by the Client, unless otherwise allowed by these Terms;
- the Client is now and will be at all times in the future be in compliance with all Applicable Regulations concerning money-laundering relating to the identification requirements, and if satisfactory evidence of identity has not been obtained by the Firm within a reasonable time period, the Firm reserves the right to cease to deal with the Client;
- the Client is not a Resident of the United States of America.

21.2. A covenant is a promise to affirmatively do something. The Client covenants to the Firm:

- that for the duration of this Agreement, the Client will promptly notify the Firm of any change to the details supplied by the Client during the Account opening process, including in particular any change of address, any such occasions where the Client moves to another territory or country, and any change or anticipated change in the Client's financial circumstances or employment status (including redundancy and/or unemployment) which may affect the basis on which the Firm does business with the Client;
- the Client will at all times obtain, comply and do all that is necessary to maintain in full force and effect, all authority, powers, consents, licenses and authorizations referred to in this Clause 21 (Representations, Warranties and Covenants);
- the Client will promptly notify the Firm of the occurrence of any Event of Default or potential Event of Default with respect to itself or any Credit Support Provider;
- upon demand, the Client will provide the Firm with such information as the Firm may reasonably require from time to time; and
- the Client will use all reasonable steps to comply with all applicable laws and regulations in relation the Agreement.

22. DEFAULT AND DEFAULT REMEDIES

22.1. Each and any of the following shall constitute an Event of Default:

- if the Firm has reasonable grounds to believe that the Client failed to make any payment or that the Client is in material breach of any part of these Terms;
- if the Client fails to remit funds necessary to enable the Firm to take delivery under any Transaction on the first due date;
- if the Client fails to provide assets for delivery, or take delivery of assets, under any Transaction on the first due date;
- if the Client dies or becomes of unsound mind;
- the Firm considers it necessary or desirable to prevent what is considered to be or might be a violation of any laws, Applicable Regulations, or good standard of market practice;



- if any representations or warranties given by the Client or any Credit Support Provider in these Terms or any Credit Support Document, are or become untrue;
- if the Firm reasonably considers it necessary for its own protection or the protection of any Associated Firm, or if any action is taken or event occurs which the Firm considers might have a material adverse effect on the Client's ability to perform any of its obligations under the Agreement;
- if the Client is unable to pay its debts as they fall due, or is bankrupt or insolvent as defined under any bankruptcy or insolvency law applicable to the Client;
- If the Client or any Credit Support Provider commences a voluntary case or other procedure, or an involuntary case or procedure is commenced against the Client, seeking or proposing liquidation, reorganization, an arrangement or composition, a freeze or moratorium, or other similar relief with respect to the Client or its debts under any bankruptcy, insolvency, regulatory, supervisory or similar law (including any corporate law or other law applicable to the Client, if insolvent) or seeking the appointment of a trustee, receiver, liquidator, conservator, administrator, insolvency officer, or other similar official (each an "Insolvency Officer") of the Client or any part of the Client's assets, or if the Client takes any corporate action to authorize the foregoing;
- if the Client or any Credit Support Provider or any Insolvency Officer acting on either behalf, disaffirms, disclaims or repudiates any obligation under this Agreement or any guarantee, hypothecation agreement, margin or security agreement, or any other document containing an obligation of a third party or of the Client in favor of the Firm supporting any of the Client's obligations under these Terms (individually a "Credit Support Document");
- if the Client or any Credit Support Provider fails to comply with or perform any obligation under an applicable Credit Support Document;
- if any Credit Support Document expires or ceases to be in full force and effect prior to the satisfaction of all of the Client's obligations under these Terms, unless otherwise agreed by the Firm; or
- if any Event of Default (however described) occurs in relation to any other agreement that the Client may have with the Firm.
- **22.2.** Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default, the Firm may, in its sole and absolute discretion, take all or any of the following actions:
 - close any Open Positions or cancel any Orders on the Client's Account;
 - prohibit the Client from accessing or using the Client's Account;
 - suspend or in any way limit or restrict the Client's ability to place any Order, give any instruction or effectuate any Transaction in relation to the Client's Account;
 - vary the Margin Requirements applicable to the Client;
 - reverse any Transactions (as if they had never been entered into in the first place) and the effect of such Transactions on the Client's Account;
 - sell or charge in any way any or all of the Client's securities, assets and property which may from time to time be in the possession or control of the Firm or any of its Associated Firms or Fund Managers or call on any guarantee. The Firm shall be entitled to apply the proceeds of sale or other disposal in paying the costs of such sale or other disposal and in or towards satisfaction of the Secured Obligations;
 - require the Client to close any or all of its Open Positions by a specified date selected by the Firm;
 - make appropriate deductions or credits;



- terminate these Terms immediately without notice, or with notice with termination occurring on a specified date selected by the Firm;
- exercise the Firm's right of set-off; and/or
- pay to the Client the fair market value at the time the Firm exercises such right, of any investments held by the Firm, its Associated Firms or Fund Managers, instead of returning to the Client investments equivalent to those credited on its Account.
- **22.3.** The Client authorizes the Firm to take any or all of the actions described in Clause 22.2 of these Terms without notice to the Client and acknowledges that the Firm shall not be responsible for any consequences of it taking such actions. The Client shall execute the documents and take any action as the Firm may request in order to protect the rights of the Firm and its Associated Firms under the Agreement.
- **22.4.** If the Firm exercises its rights to sell any security or property of the Client under Clause 22.2, it will affect such sale, without notice or liability to the Client, on behalf of the Client and apply the proceeds of sale in or towards discharge of any of the Client's obligations to the Firm or any Associated Firm.

23. FORCE MAJEURE

- 23.1. Since the Firm does not control signal power, its reception or routing via Internet, configuration of the Client's equipment or reliability of its connections, the Firm shall not be liable for any claims, losses, damages, costs or expenses, including Attorney's fees, caused directly or indirectly, by any breakdown or failure of any transmission or communication system or equipment or computer facility or trading software, whether belonging to the Firm or its Associated Firms, the Client, any Market, or any settlement or clearing system when the Client trades online (via Internet) or for any cause preventing the Firm from performing any or all its obligations, any act of God, war, terrorism, malicious damage, civil commotion, industrial acts, any Exceptional Market Event, or acts and regulations of any governmental or supra national bodies or authorities which in the Firm's opinion prevent an orderly market in relation to the Client's Orders (a "Force Majeure Event").
- **23.2.** Upon the occurrence of a Force Majeure Event, the Firm shall use commercially reasonable efforts to resume performance and it may give the Client written notice that a Force Majeure Event has occurred. Upon occurrence of a Force Majeure Event, all of the Firm's obligations under the Agreement shall be immediately suspended for the duration of such Force Majeure Event. Additionally, the Firm may take any one or more of the following steps:
 - alter normal trading times;
 - alter the Margin Requirements;
 - amend or vary these Terms and any Transaction contemplated by these Terms, insofar as it is impractical or impossible for the Firm to comply with its obligations;
 - close any or all Open Positions, cancel instructions and Orders as the Firm deems to be appropriate in the circumstances; and/or
 - take or omit to take all such other actions as the Firm deems to be reasonably appropriate in the circumstances having regard to the Clients positions and those positions of the Firm's other customers.



24. MANIFEST ERRORS

- **24.1.** A "Manifest Error" means a manifest or obvious misquote by the Firm, or any Market, exchange, price providing bank, Service Provider, information source, commentator, official, and other third party on whom the Firm reasonably relies, having regard to the current Market conditions at the time an Order is placed. When determining whether a situation amounts to a Manifest Error, the Firm may take into account all information in its possession including, without limitation, information concerning all relevant market conditions and any error in, or lack of clarity of, any information source or announcement.
- **24.2.** In evaluating whether a situation constitutes a Manifest Error, the Firm will exercise fairness towards the Client. It is important to note that any financial commitments, contracts, or transactions entered into or refrained from by the Client in reliance on an order placed with the Firm, as well as any resulting loss of profit, consequential, or indirect losses incurred by the Client, shall not be considered by the Firm when determining the presence of a Manifest Error. The Firm retains the right to take the following actions without prior notice:
 - amend the details of such Transaction to reflect what the Firm considers in its discretion, acting in good faith, to be the correct or fair terms of such Transaction absent such Manifest Error(s);
 - if the Client does not promptly agree to any amendment made under Clause 24.2 herein the Firm may void from its inception any Transaction resulting from or deriving from a Manifest Error; and/or
 - refrain from taking any action at all to amend the details of such a Transaction or void such Transaction.
- **24.3.** The Firm shall not be liable to the Client for any loss, cost, claim, demand or expense the Client suffers (including loss of profits or any indirect or consequential losses) resulting from a Manifest Error or the Firm's decision to enforce the details of a Transaction notwithstanding any Manifest Error, except to the extent caused by the Firm's own fraud, willful default or gross negligence.
- **24.4.** In the event that a Manifest Error is made by any Market, exchange, price providing bank, Service Provider, information source, commentator, official, any other third party on whom the Firm reasonably relies, the Firm will not be liable to the Client for any loss, cost, claim, demand, or expense.

25. GAMING AND/OR ABUSIVE STRATEGIES AND/OR ARBITRAGE

25.1. Internet, connectivity delays, and errors sometimes create a situation where the price displayed on the Trading Platform does not accurately reflect the Market rates. The concept of gaming and/ or abusing the system, or taking advantage of Internet delays cannot exist in a Market where the Client is buying or selling directly from the Principal. The Firm does not permit the deliberate practice of gaming and/ or use of abusive trading practices on the Trading Platform. Transactions that rely on price latency opportunities may be revoked, without prior notice.



- **25.2.** The Firm reserves the right to make the necessary corrections or adjustments on the Account involved, without prior notice. Accounts that rely on gaming and/ or abusive strategies may at the Firm's sole discretion be subject to intervention by the Firm and the Firm's approval of any Orders. Any dispute arising from such quoting or execution errors will be resolved by the Firm in its sole and absolute discretion.
- **25.3.** The Firm shall not have any obligation to contact the Client and advise the Client upon appropriate action in light of changes in Market conditions or otherwise. The Client acknowledges that the Market is highly speculative and volatile and that, following execution of any Transaction, the Client is solely responsible for making and maintaining contact with the Firm for the purpose of monitoring the position and ensuring that any further instructions are given on a timely basis. In the event of any failure to do so, the Firm can give no assurance that it will be possible for them to contact the Client and the Firm accepts no liability for loss alleged to be suffered as a result of any failure by the Client to do so.
- **25.4.** The Client agrees to fully reimburse and hold the Firm, its Associated Firms and any of their directors, officers, employees and agents harmless from and against any and all liabilities, losses, damages, costs and expenses, including legal fees incurred in connection with the provision of the services under these Terms to the Client.
- 25.5. The Client is not allowed to enter into any form of prohibited trading, i.e. specific trading techniques commonly known as "arbitrage trading" "News Trading", "picking/ sniping",; 'heavy scalping' or the use of specific automated trading systems or "Expert Advisors"; and/or follow an abusive trading strategy, i.e. any trading activity which is aiming towards potential riskless profit by opening opposite orders, during periods of volatile market conditions, during news announcements, on opening gaps (trading sessions starts), or on possible gaps where the underlying instrument has been suspended or restricted on a particular market, between same or different trading accounts. The Client agrees and acknowledges that if the Company considers that the Client has been acting in any of the manners described above, the Company may, at its sole discretion and without prior notice to the Client, take one or more or any portion of, the following actions: (a) close the Client's account; (b) suspend the Client's account for an indefinite period; (c) carry out an investigation on the Client's account for an indefinite period; (d) charge a penalty fee to the Client in the same or greater amount of money that resulted from the Client using such techniques; (e) close the account, confiscate any profits from prohibited trading techniques and return the original deposit(s) to the account holder. If profits arising out of Prohibited Trading were already withdrawn, profits could be confiscated from the Client's related accounts to make up for the difference.

26. MARKET ABUSE

- **26.1.** When the Firm executes a Transaction on the Client's behalf, the Firm may buy or sell securities on exchanges or directly from or to other financial institutions shares or units in the relevant instrument. The result is that when the Client places Transactions with the Firm the Client's Transactions can have an impact on the external market for that instrument in addition to the impact it might have on the Firm's price. This creates a possibility of market abuse and the purpose of this Clause is to prevent such abuse.
- **26.2.** The Client represents and warrants to the Firm at the time the Client enters into these Terms

and every time the Client enters into a Transaction or gives the Firm any other instruction that:

- the Client will not place and has not placed a Transaction with the Firm if to do so would result in the Client, or others with whom the Client is acting in concert having an interest in the price of the instrument which is equal to or exceeds the amount of a declarable interest in the instrument;
- the Client will not place, and has not placed a Transaction in connection with:
 - o a placing, issue, distribution or other similar event;
 - o an offer, takeover, merger or other similar event; or
 - o any corporate finance activity;
- the Client will not place and has not placed a Transaction that contravenes any law or regulation prohibiting insider dealing, market manipulation or any other form of market abuse or market misconduct. The Client will act in accordance with all applicable laws and regulations.
- **26.3.** In the event that the Client places any Transaction or otherwise acts in breach of the representations and warranties given in this Clause 26 (Market Abuse) or any other Clause of these Terms or the Firm has reasonable grounds for believing that the Client has done so, in addition to any rights the Firm may have under the Terms, the Firm may:
 - enforce the Transaction(s) against the Client if it is a Transaction(s) which results in the Client owing money to the Firm; and/or
 - treat all of the Client's Transactions as void if they are Transactions which result in the Firm owing money to the Client, unless and until the Client produces conclusive evidence within thirty (30) days of the Firm's request that the Client has not in fact committed any breach of warranty, misrepresentation or undertaking under these Terms.
- **26.4.** The Client acknowledges that it would be improper for the Client to deal in the instrument if the sole purpose of such a transaction was to manipulate the Firm's price, and the Client agrees not to conduct any such transactions.
- **26.5.** The Firm is entitled (and in some cases required) to report to any relevant regulatory authority details of any Transaction or instruction. The Client may also be required to make appropriate disclosures and the Client undertakes that it will do so where so required.

27. EXCLUSIONS AND LIMITATIONS OF LIABILITY

27.1. Nothing in the Agreement shall exclude or restrict any duty or liability owed by the Firm to the Client under Applicable Regulations. Apart from the foregoing, neither the Firm, nor its Associated Firm, directors, officers, employees, Referring Partner, or Fund Managers shall be liable to the Client or any third party for any losses, damages, costs or expenses (including direct, indirect, special, incidental, punitive, or consequential loss, loss of profits, loss of goodwill or reputation, lost data, loss of use of the Trading Platform, business interruption, business opportunity, costs of substitute, services or downtime costs), whether arising out of negligence, breach of contract, misrepresentation or otherwise, incurred or suffered by the Client under these Terms (including any Transaction or where the Firm has declined to enter into a proposed Transaction) unless such loss arises directly from the Firm's respective gross negligence, willful default or fraud.

27.2. Without limitation, the Firm does not accept liability:

- for any partial or non-performance of the Firm's obligations hereunder by reason of any cause beyond the Firm's reasonable control, including without limitation any breakdown, delay, malfunction or failure of transmission, communication or computer facilities, industrial action, act of terrorism, act of God, acts and regulations of any governmental or supranational bodies or authorities or the failure by the relevant intermediate broker or agent, agent or principal of the Firm's custodian, sub-custodian, dealer, Market, clearing house, or regulatory or self-regulatory organization, for any reason, to perform its obligations. Nothing in this Agreement will exclude or restrict any duty of liability the Firm may have to the Client under the regulatory system, which may not be excluded or restricted thereunder;
- by reason of any delay or change in the Market conditions before any particular Transaction is affected;
- for any loss that the Client suffers in an event where any computer viruses, worms, software bombs, or similar items are introduced into the Client's computer hardware or



- software via the Trading Platform, provided the Firm has taken reasonable steps to prevent any such introduction;
- for any actions the Firm may take pursuant to its rights under these Terms;
- for any losses or other costs or expenses of any kind arising out of or in connection with the placement of Orders by the Client or the execution of Transactions with the Firm;
- for any adverse tax implications of any Transaction whatsoever;
- by reason of any delay or change in market conditions before any particular Transaction is affected; and
- for communication failures, distortions or delays when using the Trading Platform.
- **27.3.** Nothing in these Terms will limit the Firm's liability for death or personal injury resulting from its gross negligence.

28. REIMBURSEMENT AND INDEMNITY

- **28.1.** The Client will reimburse the Firm, and keep it indemnified on demand, in respect of all liabilities, losses or costs of any kind or nature whatsoever that may be incurred by the Firm as a direct or indirect result of:
 - any failure of the Client to perform any of its obligations under these Terms, in relation to any Transaction or in relation to any false information or declaration made either to the Firm or any third party, in particular to any exchange;
 - the Client's use of programmable trading systems, whether built by the Client or by any third party and executed on or using the Trading Platform; and
 - any act or omission by any person obtaining access to the Client's Account, by using the Client's designated Account number and/or password, whether or not the Client authorized such access.
- **28.2.** To the extent the Client uses or used the Trading Platform for a commercial purpose and entered Orders for the account of its customers, the Client shall on demand reimburse, protect and hold the Firm harmless from and against all losses, liabilities, judgements, suits, actions, proceedings, claims, damages and costs resulting from or arising out of claims raised by the Client's customers. This Clause 28.2 shall not be affected by the termination of these Terms.
- **28.3.** A number of the Firm's platforms are designed with safeguards to prevent the Client from incurring a negative balance when trading under normal Market conditions. Still, those safeguards may fail making it possible to incur a negative balance while trading. If the Client incurs a negative balance through trading activity on its Account and wish the Firm to forgo such negative balance, the Client should inform the Firm's trade audit team, and the Firm will evaluate the inquiry and report back to the Client with its outcome, which is based on its sole and absolute discretion. The provisions of this Clause 28.3 shall not apply and any amounts due to the Firm as a result of the foregoing, the Client must forthwith pay such amounts to the Firm whether demanded or not:
 - in the case of a Force Majeure Event provided for in Clause 23 (Force Majeure) of these Terms;



- where the Firm determines, in its sole and absolute discretion, that the negative balance is unrelated to the Client's trading activity (for example, where the debit relates to any fees or charges owed by the Client to the Firm under these Terms);
- where the negative balance is connected to or a result of, either direct or indirect, the Client's breach of any provision within these Terms;
- where the Client deals with the Firm through a credit arrangement provided by the Firm;
- where the Client is classified by the Firm as an Eligible Counterparty or Professional Client at the time the negative balance is incurred even though the Client was not so classified as an Eligible Counterparty or Professional Client by the Firm at such time;
- where the Firm utilizes assets held by it or its Nominee for the Client's behalf as Margin;
 and/or
- to Transactions in CFD Contracts where the Underlying Instrument is a Security, and/or any other products offered by the Firm from time to time that are traded on a Market.

29. THIRD-PARTY TRADING PROGRAM INSTRUCTION

- **29.1.** The Firm offers trading services through graphical user interfaces of trading programs provided by the Firm, or through predefined application interface so that third party programs selected by the Client ("Third Party Trading Program") can direct trade orders and trade details to the Firm. If the Client utilizes such Third-Party Trading Program for trading instructions, the Client agrees to the provisions of this Clause and authorizes the Firm to act accordingly.
- **29.2.** The Client hereby authorizes and directs the Firm to enter trades for the Client's Account in accordance with trading signals generated and sent to the Firm by the Third-Party Trading Program... In consideration of opening the Client's Account, the Client acknowledges and agrees to the additional terms and conditions as follows:
 - the Client fully understands that the trade orders and trade details are generated by the the Third-Party Trading Program and not by the Firm and that the Firm's responsibility is to use commercially reasonable efforts to enter orders pursuant to the trade orders and trade details generated by the Third-Party Trading Program as received by the Firm. The Client confirms that the Firm has not solicited, or in any other way recommended, the Client's use of the Third-Party Trading Program. The Client has made inquiries and conducted research into the Third-Party Trading Program sufficient to make an informed investment decision. The Firm cannot imply or guarantee that the Client will make a profit from the Third-Party Trading Program and the Client agrees that the Firm will not be held responsible for performance or trading losses incurred by the Client as a result of trading pursuant to the Third-Party Trading Program;
 - the Firm will enter trade orders for the Client's Account in accordance with the trade orders and trade details generated by the Third-Party Trading Program;
 - if more than one of the Firm's customers uses the same Third-Party Trading Program, the Client acknowledges that the Firm may enter block orders to enhance order execution, in which case a fair and systematic fill allocation method will be employed. The Client understands and acknowledges that the Firm will only be responsible for using its commercially reasonable efforts to execute, in a timely fashion, the trade orders and trade details generated by the Third-Party Trading Program. The Firm shall not be responsible for any error or malfunction of the Third-Party Trading Program, mechanical or



- communication line failure, system errors, data failure or any other causes beyond its control. The Client acknowledges that the Firm can accept and execute orders only if actually received or generated and then on a "not held" basis (i.e. the Firm shall not be held responsible for the execution of the order at the price indicated or otherwise);
- the Firm may act upon the authority given by this Clause until the Client revokes the authority by written notice addressed and actually delivered to the Firm in accordance with the Terms. The Firm may also terminate the authorization over the Third-Party Trading Program at any time for any reason in its sole discretion and will provide the Client with written notice. The Client shall be responsible for any Open Positions in the Client's Account at the time the MT4 Program is terminated. The Client shall permit the Firm to execute offsetting orders for any Open Positions in Client's Account at the time the letter of direction is terminated; and
- the Client agrees that, in the absence of willful or gross misconduct, neither the Firm nor any of its officers, directors, employees, consultants, agents or affiliates will be held liable for any act or omission in the course of or in connection with the Client's use of the Third-Party Trading Program. The Client shall fully reimburse the Firm, its principals, officers, directors, employees, agents, successor and/ or assigns from all losses and/or liability (including reasonable attorney's and/ or accountant's fees) incurred or resulting from the Client's use of the Third-Party Trading Program or the Firm's fulfilment of its authority under this Clause, provided that there has been no judicial determination that such liability was the result of gross negligence or recklessness or intentional misconduct by the Firm.

30. RIGHTS TO CANCEL/ COOLING OFF

- **30.1.** The Client is entitled to cancel the Agreement by giving written notice to the Firm within a fourteen (14) day cancellation period. Subject to Clause 30.3, the Client need not give any reason for the cancellation and the right to cancel applies even if the Client has already received Services from the Firm before the cancellation period expires.
- **30.2.** The period for cancellation begins on the date the Terms start to apply to the Client.
- **30.3.** As the price of each Transaction depends on fluctuations in the Underlying Instrument which are outside of the Firm's control and which may occur during the cancellation period, the Client has no rights to cancel the Agreement under this Clause 30 (Rights to Cancel/ Cooling Off) if any trade placed by the Client has been executed before the Firm receives notice of cancellation.
- **30.4.** Following a valid cancellation, the Firm will return any amounts the Client has deposited with the Firm prior to receipt of the cancellation notice, subject to the Firm's right of set-off for any properly incurred charges incurred prior to cancellation.
- **30.5.** If the Client does not exercise the right of cancellation, the Agreement will continue in effect until either the Client or the Firm terminates the Terms in accordance with Clause 32 (Suspension and Termination) below, or by the Firm's exercising any of its rights to terminate under these Terms. There is no minimum or fixed duration of the Agreement.



31. AMENDMENTS

- **31.1.** The Firm may amend the Agreement made hereunder at any time by written notice to the Client. The Client will be deemed to accept and agree to the amendment unless the Client notifies the Firm to the contrary in accordance with the details of the amendment notice within ten (10) Business Days of the date of the Firm's amendment notice. Where the Client objects to the amendment, the amendment will not be binding on the Client, but the Client's Account will be suspended and the Client will be required to close its Account as soon as it is reasonably practicable.
- **31.2.** Any amendment to this Agreement will come into effect on the date specified by the Firm which will, in most cases, be at least ten (10) Business Days from the date of the Firm's amendment notice provided in accordance with Clause 31.1.
- **31.3.** Any amended agreement will supersede any previous agreement between the Firm and the Client on the same subject matter and will govern any Transaction entered into after or outstanding on, the date the new edition comes into effect.

32. SUSPENSION AND TERMINATION

- **32.1.** The Client may terminate the Agreement immediately by giving written notice to the Firm. The Client agrees that at any time after the termination of the Agreement, the Firm may, without notice to the Client, close out any or all of the Client's Open Positions and will not be held liable for any loss of profit or capital.
- **32.2.** The Firm may suspend or terminate these Terms by giving five (3) Business Days written notice to the Client for any reason or no reason whatsoever, except that the Firm may terminate the Agreement immediately, upon written notice to the Client for any reason or no reason whatsoever, if the Client has no Open Positions in its Account at the time when the notice of termination is sent.
 - The Client agrees that at any time after the termination of the Agreement, the Firm may, without notice to the Client, close out any or all of the Client's Open Positions. Where the Firm suspends the Client's Account, the Firm may prevent the Client from opening any new positions but the Firm will not close the Client's Open Positions unless otherwise allowed by these Terms. The provisions of this Clause 32.2 shall not prevent the Firm from exercising any of its rights to terminate or suspend the Agreement as provided elsewhere in these Terms.
- **32.3.** Upon the termination of the Agreement, all amounts payable by the Client to the Firm will become immediately due and payable including (but without limitation):
 - all outstanding fees, charges and commissions;
 - any dealing expenses incurred by terminating these Terms; and
 - any losses and expenses realized in closing out any Transactions or settling or concluding outstanding obligations incurred by the Firm on the Client's behalf



- **32.4.** Termination of the Agreement shall not impact any pre-existing rights or obligations between the Firm and the Client. The conclusion of these Terms shall not impede the activation or persistence of any provision within these Terms, whether explicitly or implicitly designed to take effect prior to or after such termination.
- **32.5.** If termination occurs, the Firm will, as soon as reasonably practicable and subject to these Terms, deliver to the Client any money or investments in the Client's Account(s) subject to any applicable charges and rights of set-off as set out on the Firm's Financial Terms, and for the avoidance of doubt, in the event one of the Client's Accounts is in negative, the Firm is entitled to the right of set off between the Client's Accounts at any time. The Client is therefore urged to settle all floating debits as soon as possible. A final statement will be issued to the Client where appropriate.

33. DORMANT ACCOUNT

- **33.1.** The Dormant Account status is defined by multiple criteria: (i) absence of open positions for six consecutive months, (ii) no trade activity in the last six consecutive months, (iii) no deposit, withdrawal, or internal transfer activity in the last six consecutive months.

 An internal transfer between the Accounts is not regarded as a deposit or a withdrawal.
- **33.2.** Upon meeting the criteria mentioned in section 33.1, the Account will be placed in an inactive and dormant stage.
- **33.3.** Upon the Account reaching five months of inactivity, an automated message will be triggered and dispatched to the Client, notifying them about the forthcoming account deduction in accordance with the Terms. Simultaneously, the sales team will be notified of these actions.
- **33.4.** Once the Account balance reaches zero, it will be disabled. Three months after the deactivation, the Account will be closed from MT trading system and Client portal.

 The master Account, however, will remain untouched. If all trading Accounts are closed, the master Account status will be closed.
- **33.5.** The Firm reserves the right to modify or waive charges based on individual circumstances. Such decisions will be made at the discretion of the management.
- **33.6.** For all Dormant Accounts, a monthly fee of 10 USD /AUD/GBP/ERO or 200 ZAR will be charged after the last trading day of the month. This fee aims to cover administrative costs associated with maintaining Dormant Accounts.
- **33.7.** The Firm shall keep its own office records and those its Clients for a period of 7 years as required under the companies Act 2001 and the Financial Service Act 2007.
- **33.8.** This clause will be reviewed periodically, and revisions may be made to reflect changes in business requirements or industry regulations.



34. IN THE EVENT OF DEATH

- **34.1.** In the event of the Client's death, any person(s) purporting to be the Client's legal personal representative(s) or surviving Joint Account Holder must provide the Firm with formal notice of the Client's death in a form acceptable to the Firm, including but not limited to the provision of an original death certificate in physical form.
- **34.2.** Clause 34.3 through and including 34.8 will only apply if the Client is a sole account holder (including where the Client is the sole surviving account holder following the earlier death of a Joint Account Holder). In the event of death of a Joint Account Holder (who is not the sole surviving Joint Account Holder), the Client should refer to Clause 34.1 above.
- **34.3.** Upon the receipt and acceptance of the Client's death certificate, the Firm will treat the Client's death as an Event of Default allowing the Firm to exercise any of its rights under Clause 22.2 of these Terms including but not limited to closing any and all Open Positions within the Client's Account. The Agreement will continue to bind the Client's estate until terminated by the Client's legal personal representative or by the Firm in accordance with these Terms.
- **34.4.** Where the Firm provides the Client with an execution-only dealing service, the Firm will be under no obligation to assume management of the Client's Account following his or her death.
- **34.5.** A person shall not be proven to be the Client's legal personal representative until the Firm receives a grant of representation for the Client's estate. Once the Firm receives the grant of representation for the Client's estate, the Firm will carry out the written instructions from the Client's legal personal representative(s). The Firm will only accept instructions that aim to wind-down and/or close the Account. No registered asset may be sold until any re- registration process is completed and all fees, charges and expenses which may be owed by the Client to the Firm are accounted for. Where the Firm has not received any instructions after six (6) months following receipt of the Client's death certificate, the Firm may (but shall not be obliged) reregister the Client's holdings into the name of its legal personal representative, re-materialize any electronic holdings and send such holdings in certificated form to the registered correspondence address for the Client's estate, subject to appropriate charges detailed from time to time in the Financial Terms.
- **34.6.** If the Client's estate is too small to warrant a grant of representation, the Firm may in its sole and absolute discretion, require any person(s) purporting to be the Client's legal personal representative(s) to obtain a grant of representation or request an appropriate indemnity.
- **34.7.** Any applicable charges as detailed in the Financial Terms will continue to be charged until the Account is closed.
- **34.8.** Notwithstanding anything in the Agreement, if the Agreement is not terminated within two (1) years after the date of the Client's death, the Firm may take such action as it considers appropriate to close the Client's Account. The Client's estate or its legal personal representative(s) will be liable for all costs associated with the Firm taking this action, or considering taking action, except to the extent that costs arise because of the Firm's gross negligence, willful default or fraud.



35. NOTICES AND COMMUNICATION WITH THE CLIENT

- **35.1.** The Firm may notify, instruct, or communicate with the Client by telephone, letter, email or Trading Platform, and the Client agrees that the Firm may contact the Client through any of these mediums at any time. The Firm will use the address, phone number, or email address specified in the Client's Account opening documentation or such other address (physical or electronic) or number (phone) as the Client may subsequently provide the Firm.
- **35.2.** The Client will be deemed to have acknowledged and agreed with the content of any notice, instruction or other communication (except Confirmations, Account Statements, and Margin Call Warnings) unless the Client notifies the Firm to the contrary in writing within five (5) Business Days of the date on which the Client is deemed to have received it in accordance with Clause 35.3.
- **35.3.** Any notice, instruction or other communication will be deemed to have been properly given by the Firm:
 - if hand delivered, when left at the Client's last known home or work address;
 - if sent by post to the address last notified by the Client to the Firm, on the next Business Day after being deposited in the post;
 - if given verbally over the telephone, immediately where the Firm speaks with the Client. If the Firm is unable to connect with the Client via phone, the Firm may leave a message on the Client's answering machine. In such an event, the notice, instruction or other communication will be deemed to have been properly given one (1) hour after the message is left;
 - if sent by email, it will be considered delivered immediately upon sending, unless the Firm receives notification of delivery failure from the respective email service provider.; and/or
 - if posted on the Firm's website or Trading Platform, as soon as it has been posted.
- **35.4.** The Client is responsible for reading all notices posted on the Firm's website and Trading Platform in a timely manner.
- **35.5.** The Client may notify the Firm by letter, or email, each of which shall constitute written notice. The Client will use the Firm's registered address, or email address specified by the Firm from time to time in accordance with any notice requirement.
- **35.6.** Any notice will be deemed to have been properly given by the Client:
 - if hand delivered, when left at the Firm's registered office;
 - if sent by post to the Firm's registered address, upon receipt by the Firm;
 - if sent by email during Business Hours, one hour after the email is sent providing the Client does not receive confirmation of a failed delivery from the relevant email provider.
- **35.7.** The Client and the Firm shall communicate with one another in English. The Firm or third parties may have provided the Client with translations of the Terms. The original English version shall be the only legally binding version for the Client and the Firm. In case of discrepancies between the original English version and other translations in the Client's possession, the original English version provided by the Firm shall prevail.



- **35.8.** The Firm shall not be liable for any delay in the Client receiving any communication once dispatched by the Firm.
- **35.9.** The Firm may record any and all telephone conversations between the Client and the Firm's personnel including but not limited to principals, agents, employees or associate, and at the sole option and discretion of the Firm, be recorded electronically with or without the use of an audible, automatic warning tone. The Client further agrees to the use of such recordings and transcripts thereof as evidence by either party in connection with any dispute or proceedings that may arise involving the Client or Firm. The Client understands that the Firm destroys such recordings in accordance with its established business procedures, and the Client hereby consents to such destruction.

36. INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

- **36.1.** The Firm's website, Trading Platform, Client Portal and any and all information or materials that the Firm may supply or make available to the Client (including any software which forms part of those items) from time to time, are and will remain the Firm's property or that of its service providers. Such service providers may include providers of real-time price data to the Firm. In addition:
 - all copyrights, trademarks, design rights and other intellectual property rights in those items are and will remain the Firm's property (or those of third parties whose intellectual property the Firm uses in relation to products and services the Firm provides for the Client's Account);
 - the Firm supplies or makes them available to the Client on the basis that:
 - o the Firm can also supply and make them available to other persons; and
 - the Firm may cease providing them at its sole and absolute discretion or if the Firm's service providers require the Firm to do so;
 - the Client must not supply all or part of them to anyone else and the Client must not copy all or any part of them;
 - the Client must not delete, obscure or tamper with copyright or other proprietary notices the Firm may have put on any of those items; and/or
 - the Client must only use these items for the operation of its Account in accordance with these Terms.

37. CONFIDENTIALITY AND DATA PROTECTION

37.1. The Firm may obtain information (including personal data) from the Client during the course of its relationship with the Client. This Clause 36 (Confidentiality and Data Protection) describes some of the key issues in relation to how the Firm processes this personal data, which the Client should be aware of. Please note that this description is not comprehensive and the Firm's Privacy Policy contains additional information. The Firm's Privacy Policy is available on the Firm's website and should be read alongside this Clause 36 (Confidentiality and Data Protection) as it sets out types of personal data which the Firm collects about the Client and additional ways in which the Firm safeguards and uses such personal data.



- **37.2.** The Firm (and its Associated Firms where required) will process the Client's personal data only in accordance with these Terms and the Firm's Privacy Policy.
- **37.3.** Subject to the following, the Firm will treat all information it holds about the Client as private and confidential, even when the Client is no longer a customer. The Client agrees, however, that the Firm and any of its Associated Firms may:
 - use the Client's information to determine the Client's identity and background before and during the term of the Agreement for money laundering and regulatory purposes, administer and operate the Client's Account and monitor and analyze its conduct, provide Services to the Client, improve any of the Firm's operations, procedures, products and/or Services during the term of the Agreement, assess any credit limit or other credit decision (and the interest rate, fees and other charges to be applied to the Client's Account) and enable the Firm to carry out statistical and other analysis;
 - use the Client's personal data including its contact details, application details and details of
 the service the Firm provides to the Client and how the Client uses them, to decide what
 products and Services may be of interest to the Client;
 - contact the Client by telephone (including automated calls), post, email and other electronic messages such as short text, video and picture messaging, with information, news, events and seminars on the Firm's Services and those of Associated Firms and other selected partners;
 - pass the Client's personal data to selected third parties for them to contact the Client for marketing purposes similar to those set out above; and
 - use the Client's personal data to comply and cooperate with regulators and the courts and to comply with its legal obligations.
- **37.4.** The Firm may share the Client's personal data with any of its Fund Managers, Referring Partners, including data processors, which may only use it for the same purposes as the Firm. Such purposes include those listed in Clause 37.2 in addition to the processing of instructions and generation of Confirmations, the operation of control systems; the operation of management information systems and allowing staff of Associated Firms who share responsibility for managing the Client's relationship from other offices to view information about the Client. The Firm will take appropriate measures to protect the security of the Client's personal data and details of the companies and countries involved in processing the Client's personal data will be provided upon request to the Firm's Data Protection Officer.
- **37.5.** The Client has the right, on payment of a USD ten (10) fee, to receive a copy of the information the Firm holds about the Client, to the extent that it constitutes the Client's personal information. If the Client wishes to exercise this right, the Client should write to the Data Protection Officer.
- **37.6.** If the Client would like to change or modify information previously provided to the Firm, to remove information from the Firm's database or elect not to receive certain communications from the Firm, the Client should do so by writing to the Data Protection Officer.



38. MISCELLANEOUS

- **38.1.** The Firm may, but the Client may not, at any time transfer or assign absolutely its rights, benefits and/ or obligations under these Terms by providing the Client with not less than ten (10) Business Days written notice. Any such transfer or assignment shall be subject to the assignee undertaking in writing to be bound by and perform our obligations under these Terms.
- **38.2.** The Firm's rights and obligations under these Terms are personal to the Client. This means that the Client cannot assign them without the Firm's prior written consent.
- **38.3.** The Firm may make certain disclosures relating to the Client's Transactions, which may or may not involve disclosing the Client's identity. In addition to complying with such obligations, the Firm may comply with any request for information pertaining to the Client from any relevant regulatory or government authority. The Client agrees that such compliance does not constitute a breach of any obligation of confidentiality, which the Firm owes to the Client pursuant to these Terms.
- **38.4.** Time is of the essence in respect of all the Client's obligations under these Terms and any Transaction. This means that specified times and dates in the Terms are vital and mandatory. Any delay, reasonable or not, may be grounds for terminating a Transaction, multiple Transactions or the Agreement.
- **38.5.** The rights and remedies provided under the Agreement are cumulative and not exclusive of those provided by law.
- **38.6.** The Firm is under no obligation to exercise any right or remedy either at all or in a manner or at a time beneficial to the Client. No delay or failure by the Firm to exercise any of its rights under these Terms (including any Transaction) or otherwise shall operate as a waiver of those or any other rights or remedies. No single or partial exercise of a right or remedy shall prevent further exercise of that right or remedy or the exercise of any other rights or remedies. No course of conduct or previous dealings shall create any future obligation to perform in the same manner.
- **38.7.** If, at any time, any provision of these Terms is or becomes illegal, invalid, or unenforceable in any respect under the law of any jurisdiction, then such provision or part thereof will, to that extent, be deemed severable and not form part of these Terms. Neither the legality, validity or enforceability of the remaining provisions of the Terms under the law of that jurisdiction nor the legality, validity or enforceability of such provision under the law of any other jurisdiction shall be in any way affected.
- **38.8.** The Client accepts that the Firm may be closed on significant holidays. This means that the Firm may not offer Services, in whole or in part, every day of the year. The Client should keep itself appraised of the Firm's regular hours of business and closure Annex to avoid any Service disruption or inconvenience when trading.
- **38.9.** The Firm's records, unless shown to be wrong, will be evidence of the Client's dealings with the Firm in connection with the Firm's services. The Client will not object to the admission of the Firm's records in any legal proceedings because such records are not originals, are not in writing or are produced by a computer. The Client will not rely on the Firm to comply with its record



keeping obligations, although records may be made available to the Client upon request, the provision of which is subject to the Firm's sole and absolute discretion.

- **38.10.**The Client and the Firm do not intend that any provision of these Terms should be enforceable by any person who is not a party to these Terms.
- **38.11.** If any action or proceeding is brought by or against the Firm in relation to these Terms or arising out of any act or omission by the Firm, the Client agrees to cooperate with the Firm to the fullest extent possible in the defense or prosecution of such action or proceeding.

39. GOVERNING LAW

- **39.1.** A transaction which is subject to the rules of a Market shall be governed by the law applicable to it under those rules. Subject thereto, this Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the International law.
- **39.2.** Nothing in this Clause 39(Governing Law) shall prevent the Firm from bringing proceedings against the Client in any other country which may have jurisdiction to whose jurisdiction the Client irrevocably submits.



ANNEX A - CONTRACTS FOR DIFFERENCE

1. Scope

- 1.1. This Annex A (Contracts for Difference) (hereinafter referred to as "Annex A") supplements the Terms as expressly provided below and shall govern the relationship between the Client and the Firm when the Client enters into a CFD Contract.
- 1.2. In the event of any conflict or inconsistency between the Terms and Annex A, the provisions in this Annex shall prevail.
- 1.3. The Client acknowledges and agrees that, by executing the Notice Letter, the Client will be bound by the provisions of Annex A.

2. Definitions

- 2.1. Words or phrases defined in the Terms shall be assigned the same meaning in Annex A unless otherwise defined.
- 2.2. In Annex A, the following words and phrases shall, unless the context otherwise requires, have the following meanings and may be used in the singular or plural as appropriate:
 - "Calculation Adjustment" shall have the meaning given to it in Clause 8 of Annex A;
 - "CFD Contract" shall mean any CFD entered into between the Client and the Firm;
 - "Entry Order" shall mean an Order, stop or limit, initiating an open position and executed when a specific price level is reached as specified in the Order;
 - "Finance Charge" shall mean the fee charged by the Firm to the Client for rolling a CFD Contract from one day to the next;
 - "Merger Event" shall have the meaning given to it in Clause 8 of this Annex;
 - "Single Share CFD" shall mean a CFD Contract where the Underlying Instrument relates to one Equity rather than a basket of Equities;
 - "Take-over Offer" shall mean with respect to any CFD Contract that relates to an Equity, a takeover offer, tender offer, exchange offer, solicitation, proposal or other event by any entity or person that results in such entity or person purchasing or otherwise obtaining or having the right to obtain (by conversion or other means) 50% or more of the outstanding voting shares of the issuer of the relevant Equity or share;
 - "Transaction Charge" shall mean the fee charged by the Firm to the Client for opening and/or closing a CFD Contract where the Underlying Instrument is a Security.

3. Risks

- 3.1. Before opening an Account with the Firm under the Terms, the Client acknowledges, recognizes, and comprehensively understands that engaging in trading and investments, whether leveraging or not, involves a significant level of risk, potentially resulting in losses exceeding his initial margin deposit
- 3.2. The Client should review the Risk Disclosure Policy, Annex B (High-Risk Investment Notice) and any other instructions and guidelines published or provided by the Firm regarding the risks associated with trading before opening an Account under the Terms.

4. Services

- 4.1. Subject to the Client fulfilling its obligations under the terms, the Firm may enter into CFD Contracts with the Client, the subject of such contracts relating to any Underlying Instrument offered by the Firm from time to time.
- 4.2. A CFD is a cash-settled contract, which seeks to confer similar economic benefits to an investment in the relevant Underlying Instrument, without the usual costs and rights



associated with an investment in the Underlying Instrument, although other costs and rights will apply to a CFD. Therefore, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Firm and the Client, the Client acknowledges and agrees that it will not be entitled to delivery of, or be required to deliver, the Underlying Instrument to which a CFD Contract relates, nor will the Client acquire any interest in the relevant Underlying Instrument or be entitled to receive dividends or any equivalent thereof, to exercise voting rights, to receive any rights pursuant to any rights or bonus issue, or to participate in any placing or open offer by virtue of its CFD Contract where an Underlying Instrument is a Security. The payment of any dividend or occurrence of any rights or bonus issue, placing, open offer or take-over in respect of a CFD Contract where the Underlying Instrument is a Security, shall be dealt with in accordance with these terms.

5. Obtaining a Quote and Order Placement

- 5.1. At any time that the Client wishes to obtain a quote or place an Order to open a CFD Contract, the Client may contact the Firm (or an Associated Firm or a Fund Manager) in accordance with the provisions of Clause 5 of Annex A.
- 5.2. Where requested by the Client, the Firm may, but shall not be obliged to, provide quotes or receive Orders outside the normal hours of trading.
- 5.3. Depending on the Underlying Instrument, the Client may contact the Firm (or an Associated Firm or a Fund Manager) to obtain a quote, place an Order or otherwise trade with the Firm subject to the following:
 - where the Client wishes to deal in a CFD the subject of which is not a Security, the Client may obtain an indicative quote, place an Order or otherwise trade with the Firm in accordance with Clause 7 of the Terms;
 - where the Client wishes to deal in a CFD, the subject of which is a Security, the Client may request an indicative quote, place an Order or otherwise trade with the Firm electronically through the Trading Platform or by telephoning the Firm's office. Orders by telephone will only be accepted by the Firm during specified hours which will be notified to the Client from time to time and subject to inability to execute Orders via the Trading Platform. The Client can only place an Order via telephone by talking directly to the authorised personnel of the Firm. No messages may be left, and no Orders may be placed using an answering machine or voicemail phone facilities via facsimile.
- 5.4. The Firm may stipulate a minimum and/or maximum Contract Quantity per Underlying Instrument from time to time and the Firm reserves the right to vary such stipulations according to Market conditions.

6. Opening CFD Contracts

- 6.1. A CFD Contract will only be formed when the Client provides an instruction to place an Order on a quote provided by the Firm, and the Firm executes the instruction in accordance with Clause 7 (Dealings between the Firm and the Client) of the Terms and Clause 5 (Obtaining a Quote and Order Placement) of Annex A.
- 6.2. The Client may cancel an Order at any time by providing notice to the Firm unless and until the Order has been executed in whole or in part, only if the Order is an Entry Order. If an Order has been executed in whole or in part it will not be possible for the Client to cancel the Order to the extent that the Order has been executed. If an Order is a Market Order, it will not be possible for the Client to cancel the Order at any time.
- 6.3. For Accounts where the Client is using the Non-Hedging Setting, if the Client:



- gives an Order to open a long position in relation to an Underlying Instrument on an Account where at that time the Client already has on that Account a short position in relation to the same Underlying Instrument; or
- gives an Order to open a short position in relation to an Underlying Instrument where the Client already has a long position in relation to the same Underlying Instrument;
- then the Firm will treat the Client's instruction to open the new position as an instruction
 to close the existing position to the extent of the size of the new position. If the new
 position is greater in size than the existing position, then the existing position will be closed
 in full and a new CFD Contract will be opened in relation to the excess size of the new
 position.
- 6.4. For Accounts where the Client is using the Hedging Setting, if the Client:
 - gives an Order to open a long position in relation to an Underlying Instrument on an Account where at that time the Client already has on that Account a short position in relation to the same Underlying Instrument; or
 - gives an Order to open a short position in relation to a Contract Investment Price where the Client already has a long position in relation to the same Underlying Instrument;
 - the Firm will not treat the Client's instruction to open the new position as an instruction to close an existing position.

7. Closing CFD Contracts

- 7.1. On any Business Day on which the Client wishes to close any CFD Contract (whether in whole or in part) the Client may give a Closing Notice to the Firm specifying the CFD Contract it wishes to close, the related Underlying Instrument, the Contract Quantity and the Closing Date.
- 7.2. Following receipt of a Closing Notice, the Firm shall inform the Client of the Closing Price of the CFD Contract and the CFD Contract will be closed at that price on the Closing Date. Any amounts payable by the Client to the Firm as a result of the closed CFD Contract are immediately due and payable on the Closing Date. Conversely, any amounts payable by the Firm to the Client as a result of the closed CFD Contract are immediately due and payable on the Closing Date, and will be deposited into the Client's Account.

8. CFD Contracts on Securities

- 8.1. This Clause 8 (CFD Contracts on Securities) of Annex A will apply to the Client when it enters into a CFD Contract with the Firm, the subject of which is formed by Securities.
- 8.2. If any Securities become subject to possible adjustments as the result of any of the events set out in Clause 8.3 of this Annex, the Firm shall determine the appropriate adjustment, if any, to be made to the current Contract Value or Contract Quantity of any related CFD Contract to account for the dilutive or concentrative effect as necessary to preserve the economic equivalent of the CFD Contract prior to the relevant event or to reflect the effect of the event on the relevant Underlying Instrument. Such adjustments will be effective as of the date determined by the Firm.
- 8.3. The events to which Clause 8.2 of Annex A refers may include, without limitation, the declaration by the issuer of the Securities of the terms of any of the following:
 - A subdivision, consolidation or reclassification of shares, or a free distribution of shares to existing holders by way of bonus, capitalization or similar issue;
 - distribution to existing holders of the underlying Securities of additional shares, other share capital or Securities granting the right to payment of dividends and/or proceeds of liquidation of the issuer, or Securities, rights or warrants granting the right to a distribution



- of shares or to purchase, subscribe, or receive shares, in any case for payment (in cash or otherwise) at less than the prevailing Market price per share; or
- any event in respect of the Securities analogous to any of the foregoing events or otherwise having a dilutive or concentrative effect on the Market value of the Security.
- 8.4. If at any time a Merger Event as defined below occurs or a Take-over Offer is made in respect of any relevant Underlying Instrument where the subject is a Security, then on or after the date of the Merger Event or at any time prior to the Closing Date of such Take-over Offer, a "Calculation Adjustment" (as defined herein) may be made. Calculation Adjustment means that the Firm shall either:
 - make such adjustment to the exercise, settlement, payment or any other terms of the CFD Contract as the Firm may determine is appropriate to account for the economic effect, if any, on the Security as a result of such Merger Event or Take-over Offer (provided that no adjustments will be made to account solely for changes in volatility) expected dividends, stock loan rate or liquidity relevant to the Security, which may, but need not, be determined by reference to adjustment(s) made in respect of such Merger Event or Take-over Offer by an exchange to futures on the relevant Security traded on such exchange; or
 - determine the effective date of that adjustment (if any).
- 8.5. If the Firm determines that no adjustment could be made under Clause 8.4 of this Annex, which would produce a commercially reasonable result, the Firm will issue a Closing Notice to the Client. The date of such notice will be the Closing Date. The Closing Price shall be such price as is notified by the Firm to the Client. For the purposes of this Clause, Merger Event means in respect of any CFD the subject of which is formed by Securities:
 - any reclassification or change of the Security that results in a transfer of or an irrevocable commitment to transfer all outstanding Securities of the same class as the Underlying Instrument to another entity or person, whether by consolidation, amalgamation, merger or binding share exchange of the issuer of the relevant Security with or into another entity or person (other than a consolidation, amalgamation, merger or binding share exchange in which such issuer is the continuing entity and which does not result in a reclassification or change of all such outstanding Securities);
 - Take-over Offer of the outstanding Securities of the issuer that results in a transfer of or an irrevocable commitment to transfer all of them (other than those Securities already owned or controlled by such other entity or person); or
 - consolidation, amalgamation, merger or binding share exchange of the issuer of the
 relevant Securities or its subsidiaries with or into another entity in which the issuer is the
 continuing entity and which does not result in a reclassification or change of all such
 Securities but results in the outstanding Securities (other than those Securities owned or
 controlled by such other entity) immediately prior to such event collectively representing
 less than 50% of the outstanding Securities immediately following such event.
- 8.6. If all or substantially all the shares or assets of an issuer of Securities (such issuer and Securities being the subject of an existing CFD Contract) are nationalized, expropriated or are otherwise required to be transferred to any governmental agency, authority, entity or instrumentality thereof, the day on which such event occurs, or is declared shall be the Closing Date. The Closing Price shall be such price as is notified by the Firm to the Client.

9. CFD Contracts on Financial Instruments

9.1. This Clause 9 (CFD Contracts on Financial Instruments) of Annex A shall govern the relationship between the Client and the Firm when the Client enters into a CFD Contract which has a financial instrument as the basis of the contract.



- 9.2. If at any time trading on an exchange or market is suspended which affects the Underlying Instrument to a CFD Contract, the Firm shall calculate the value of the CFD Contract with reference to the last traded price before the time of suspension, or the Closing Price if no trading in that Financial Instrument is undertaken during the Business Day on which a suspension occurs. In the event that the aforesaid suspension continues for five (5) Business Days, the Client and the Firm may agree, in good faith, a Closing Date and a value of the CFD Contract. In the absence of such agreement, the CFD Contract shall remain open in accordance with the provisions of this Clause until such time as the aforesaid suspension is lifted or the CFD Contract is otherwise closed. During the term of a CFD Contract, in the event that the Underlying Instrument is suspended, the Firm has the right to terminate the CFD Contract at its discretion and/or to amend or vary any Margin Requirements and Margin rates for that CFD Contract.
- 9.3. If a Regulated Market on which a Financial Instrument is principally traded announces that pursuant to the rules of such Market the relevant shares have ceased, or will cease to be listed, traded or publicly quoted on the Market for any reason (other than a Merger Event or Takeover Offer) and are not immediately re-listed, re-traded or re-quoted on a Market or quotation system located in the same country as the Market, or already so issued, quoted or traded, and the Client has a CFD Contract relating to the affected Financial instrument, the day on which such an event occurs, or (if earlier) is announced, shall be the Closing Date. The Closing Price will be such price as notified by the Firm to the Client.

10. Transaction Costs and Rollover

- 10.1. In respect of Transactions in certain CFD Contracts, the Firm may charge the Client a Transaction Charge and/or a Finance Charge. Transaction Charges will be specified in the Financial Terms as amended from time to time. Transaction Charges and Finance Charges will be deducted from the Client's Account following such times delineated in Clause 10.7 of Annex A. The Client must have sufficient money on its Account at the relevant time to meet such obligations.
- 10.2. Where the Client opens a CFD Contract with the Firm and the Underlying Instrument of that contract is a Security, the Firm will charge the Client a Transaction Charge to open and close the CFD Contract. Details behind the Transaction Charge, including its calculation, are located in the Financial Terms.
- 10.3. A CFD Contract is generally considered an open-ended contract with no definitive close date unless the Underlying Instrument, the Market or the Firm otherwise requires. Both open ended and fixed term CFD Contracts will roll over each trading day until the Client instructs the Firm to close the open CFD Contract (and the Firm accepts and acts on that instruction) or the definitive close date is reached. The Contract Value of an open CFD Contract is adjusted with reference to the Market price of the Underlying Instrument each trading day that a CFD Contract remains open.
- 10.4. For the purposes of determining and fulfilling the Client's obligations with respect to a CFD Contract, including but not limited to the Client's Margin obligations under the main body of the Terms, a rolling CFD Contract shall be deemed to be a single CFD Contract which is initiated when the CFD Contract is first opened and closed when the Client instructs the Firm to close the open CFD Contract (and the Firm accepts and acts on that instruction) or the definitive close date is reached.
- 10.5. The Firm reserves the right to discontinue a rolling market facility at any time. The Firm will notify the Client as soon as is reasonably practicable should it decide for whatever reason to discontinue the rolling market facility.



- 10.6. Where the Client enters into a CFD Contract with the Firm and the Client rolls that CFD Contract from one day to the next, the Firm will charge the Client a Finance Charge relative to that Transaction, which:
 - will vary between Underlying Instruments;
 - depend on the Contract Quantity; and
 - is subject to change from time to time. The Finance Charge may be positive or negative, meaning that the Client will either owe money to the Firm or receive money from the Firm each night a CFD Contract is rolled over.

Details about the Finance Charge may be communicated to the Client through a variety of means including but not limited to notification via the Trading Platform, email, telephone, the Firm's website, and/or the Financial Terms.

- 10.7. Depending on the Underlying Instrument, the Client may incur the Finance Charge at different times. Unless the Client:
 - closes a CFD Contract (the Underlying Instrument of such contract being anything other than a Security) before the closure of the Market, , the Firm will automatically roll over such open CFD Contracts on the Client's Account to the following Business Day, and subsequently charge the Client the relevant Finance Charge; or
- 10.8. Where the Client opens a CFD Contract and the Underlying Instrument of such CFD Contract is an oil future, the Client acknowledges that such CFD Contract is a fixed term contract. This means that the contract will have a definitive close date, which will be notified to the Client via the Firm's website or any other means available to the Firm under the main body of the Terms. If the Client fails to close such CFD Contract before the definitive close date, the Firm will automatically close that CFD Contract. Following a request by the Client, the Firm may, but is not obliged to, reopen that CFD Contract on the following Business Day subject to the relevant Finance Charge.

11. Account Statements

- 11.1. Account Statements shall, in the absence of Manifest Error or grossly obvious inaccuracies, be conclusive and binding on the Client, unless the Client notifies the Firm of its rejection in writing within two (2) Business Days of dispatch of the Account Statement to the Client, or if the Firm notifies the Client of an error in the Account Statement within the same period.
- 11.2. Where the Client does not open, hold or close a CFD position (where the Underlying Instrument of the contract is a Security) in a given day, no Account Statement will be generated for that day.

12. Payment, Withdrawal and Set-Off

- 12.1. Clause 11.2 and 11.5 of the main body of the Terms shall not apply to the Client when it enters into Transactions in CFDs where the Underlying Instrument is a Security. Rather, for the purposes of trading in such CFDs, the Firm offers its Clients multi-currency accounts. The Client acknowledges and agrees to the following:
 - all funds transferred into the Client's Account (by either the Client or the Firm) will be remain in the currency of transfer unless the Firm accepts alternative instructions from the Client. Where the Firm accepts alternative instructions, the Firm will convert such funds into the currency of the Client's choice;
 - all payments from the Client's Account will be made in the currency of the payment obligation unless the Client and the Firm otherwise agree. Where the Client does not hold the relevant currency for payment and the Client and the Firm do not agree to



convert all or a portion of the Client's funds to meet the payment obligation, the Firm will charge the Client's Account with a floating debit in the amount and currency of the relevant payment obligation; the Firm will not remove any funds or force the currency conversion. The floating debit will accrue interest at the relevant rate prescribed in the Financial Terms. It is the Client's responsibility to extinguish this obligation by either asking the Firm to convert available funds, or to transfer sufficient funds in the relevant currency. Until the Client takes such action, the Firm will continue to charge interest. Where the Client has such floating debit balances on its Account, the Firm will not allow the Client to enter into Transactions with its available funds in excess of the net balance (available funds less floating debit obligations at the Firm's elected rate of exchange); and

• the provisions of this Clause 12 (Payment, Withdrawal and Set-Off) of Annex A does not restrict the Firm's right of set-off at Clause 11 of the Terms or where otherwise provided under the Terms. The Client should be aware that the Firm can exercise its right of set-off at any time and for any reason irrespective of the provisions of this Clause 12 (Payment, Withdrawal and Set-Off) of Annex A. The Client is therefore urged to settle all floating debits as soon as possible.

13. Margin

- 13.1. The Firm may apply assets held by the Firm for the Client's behalf as Margin, which may be used by the Client to conduct Margined Transactions in CFD Contracts where the Underlying Instrument of such contract is a Security.
- 13.2. Where the Firm holds bonds or Equities on behalf of the Client, the Firm shall rate the value of such Equities and bonds that it chooses to accept as consideration for Margin in its sole and absolute discretion on a daily basis following the close of Markets. When rating such bonds and Equities, the Firm uses a percentage rating (as determined by the Firm in its sole and absolute discretion) to value the Securities held. The cumulative valuation is then added to the Client's Account as usable Margin, which can be viewed by the Client in the Client Portal and/or on the Trading Platform (where available). Because such Margin is tied to non-cash collateral that is subject to market movements, the Client expressly acknowledges that the usable Margin derived from the non-cash collateral will fluctuate based on market movements from time to time.



ANNEX B - HIGH-RISK INVESTMENT NOTICE

1. Scope

- 1.1. This Annex B High-Risk Investment Notice ("Notice") supplements and amends the Terms as expressly provided below and should be read in conjunction with the Risk Disclosure Policy.
- 1.2. In the event of any conflict or inconsistency between the Terms and this Notice, the provisions of this Notice shall prevail. The Client acknowledges and agrees that, by executing the Notice Letter, the Client will be bound by the provisions of this Notice.

2. Definitions and Interpretations

- 2.1. Words or phrases defined in the Terms shall be assigned the same meaning in this Notice unless otherwise defined.
- 2.2. In this Notice, the following words and phrases shall, unless the context otherwise requires, have the following meanings and may be used in the singular or plural as appropriate:
 - "You" shall mean the Client; and
 - "We", "us", "our" shall mean the Firm.

3. General Information

- 3.1. It is a requirement that you acknowledge it, understand it and agree to this Notice before you open an account with us.
- 3.2. This Notice does not disclose all the risks and other significant aspects that may exist when trading in the financial markets, and before opening an account with us, we will make an assessment of whether the services are appropriate for you, and notify you where we do not deem the services appropriate for you; however, it is your responsibility to ensure that you fully understand the nature of the transactions you are entering into and the extend of your exposure to risk before opening an account with us.
- 3.3. Before entering into any transaction with us, you should furthermore be satisfied that the contract is suitable for you in the light of your circumstances and financial position. In the event you have any doubts in respect of the risks or appropriateness of any investment, please seek professional advice from an independent financial advisor.
- 3.4. Should you decide to open an account with us, it is important that you remain aware of the risks involved with the services provided hereunder; that you have adequate financial resources to bear such risks; and that you monitor your open positions carefully at all times. The value of the investments can increase and fall, and any income from them is not guaranteed. When trading margined transactions, it is possible to lose more than your initial investment with us and your entire account balance. You should only trade with funds that you can afford to lose. It must also be noted that past performance is not a guide to future performance.

4. Execution Only

4.1. Our services enable you to trade in financial products in the relevant markets via the internet and trading platform on an execution-only basis. We will therefore not provide you with any form of investment and/or tax advice, or advice you on the merits of a particular transaction. Any decisions on investments are purely your own decision. In the provision of the services, we are not required to assess the suitability for you of the services provided or offered to you.



- 4.2. You shall solely assume full responsibility for all risks, financial resources, and your chosen trading strategy, while taking into careful consideration the high probability of experiencing losses.
- 4.3. Please therefore ensure you carefully read and understand the risks involved in any trading decision you make. If you have any doubt whether an investment is suitable for you, you should obtain independent expert advice.

5. Contingent Liability Transactions

- 5.1. Contingent liability transactions, such as contract for differences (CFDs), and other financial products traded on margin will require you to make a series of payments against the purchase price, instead of paying the whole purchase price immediately.
- 5.2. if you trade in CFDs or other products traded on margin you may sustain a total loss or more of the margin you deposit to establish or maintain an open position. In the event the market moves against you, you may be called upon to pay substantial additional funds or Margin at short notice to maintain the open position with us. If you fail to do so within the time required, your open position may be liquidated at a loss and you will be liable for any resulting deficit.
- 5.3. Even if a transaction is not margined, it may still carry an obligation to make further payments, and in certain circumstances over and above any amount paid when you executed the transaction.
- 5.4. CFD transactions will be carried out for you whenever possible on or under the rules of a recognized or designated investment exchange. However, contingent liability transactions entered into by you, that are not traded on or under the rules of a recognized or designated investment exchange.
- 5.5. Before you commence trading, you should obtain details of all commissions and other charges for which you will be liable. If any charges are not expressed in monetary terms (but, for example, as a percentage of contract value), you should obtain a clear and written explanation, including appropriate examples, to establish what such charges are likely to mean in specific monetary terms. In the case of futures, when commission is charged as a percentage, it will normally be as a percentage of the total contract value, and not simply as a percentage of your initial payment.

6. Margined CFD Trading

6.1. Transactions in CFD contracts carry a high degree of risk, and may not be suitable for all investors. The "gearing" or "leverage" often obtainable in CFD trading means that a relatively small market movement can lead to a proportionately much larger movement in the value of your liability. Before deciding to trade CFD contracts you should carefully consider your investment objectives, level of experience, and risk appetite. The possibility exists that you could sustain a loss of some or all of your initial investment and therefore you should not invest money that you cannot afford to lose. Margined CFD trading is one of the riskiest forms of investment available in the financial markets and is only suitable for experienced individuals and institutions. Given the possibility of losing an entire investment, speculation in the CFD contracts should only be conducted with risk capital funds that if lost will not significantly affect your personal or institution's financial wellbeing.

7. Contracts for Difference

7.1. By transacting in CFDs, you are subject to a higher level of risks than the risks associated with transactions in traditional shares. You may not get back the amount initially invested and



- may be required to make additional payments by way of margin payments on a frequent basis. Investors in CFDs may be subject to unlimited losses.
- 7.2. You should not deal in CFDs unless you understand their nature and the extent of your exposure to risk. You should also be satisfied that the product is suitable for you in the light of your circumstances and financial position. Although CFDs can be utilized for the management of investment risk, it may not be suitable for some investors

8. CFDs settled in cash

8.1. Investing in a CFD carries the same risks as investing in a future, option or other derivative product. Transactions in CFDs may also have a contingent liability (as elaborated on above) and you should be aware of the implications of this.

9. Volatile Markets and Closed Markets

- 9.1. Various situations, developments or events may arise when the markets for the underlying instruments are closed for trading. These events may cause the CFD markets to open at a significantly different price from when the CFD markets were closed (gapping). There is a substantial risk that stop orders left to protect open positions held over the periods when the CFD markets are closed, will be executed at levels significantly worse than their specified price.
- 9.2. Under certain trading conditions it may be difficult or impossible to liquidate an open position. This may occur, for example, at times of rapid price movement if the price rises or falls in one trading session to such an extent that trading in the underlying market is suspended or restricted.

10. Non-Guaranteed Stops

10.1. Placing non-guaranteed stop order will not necessarily limit your losses to the intended amounts, because market conditions may make it impossible to execute such an order if the underlying market moves straight through the stipulated price. We will not be liable of any incurred losses in such cases.

11. Weekend Risk

- 11.1. Various situations, developments or events may arise over a weekend that is the period between when trading of an Underlying Instrument is closed on Friday and when trading of such Underlying Instrument is opened on Monday, that may cause the currency markets to open at a significantly different price from where they closed on Friday afternoon.
- 11.2. You will not be able to use the Trading Platform to place or change Orders over the weekend and at other times when the markets are generally closed. There is a substantial risk that stop-loss orders left to protect open positions held over the weekend will be executed at levels significantly worse than their specified price. We shall not be held responsible for any disparities in such price executions.

12. Liquidity Risk

12.1. Trading in the OTC market carries a high degree of liquidity risk. You acknowledge that liquidity risk resulting from decreased liquidity is usually due to unanticipated changes in economic and/or political conditions. You acknowledge that liquidity risk can affect the general market in that all participants experience the same lack of buyers and/ or sellers. It can also be due to changes in liquidity available to us from our inter-bank liquidity providers. When liquidity decreases, you can expect, at the minimum, to have wider bid/ask spreads as



the supply for available bid/ask prices outstrip demand. Decreases in liquidity can also result in a "fast market" conditions where the price moves sharply higher or lower or in a volatile up/down pattern without trading in an ordinary steplike fashion. It is therefore important to note that our prices, bid/ask spreads and liquidity will reflect the prevailing inter-bank market liquidity.

13. Electronic Trading

- 13.1. Trading through the Trading Platform as an electronic trading system may differ from trading in a conventional or open market. Clients that trade on an electronic trading system are exposed to risks associated with the system, including the failure of hardware and software and system down time, including without limitation the individual customer's systems and the communication infrastructure connecting the Trading Platform with the Clients.
- 13.2. You understand that by choosing to conduct trading via our Trading Platform, you assume and accept certain risks as highlighted in our prevailing Terms and for which you agree that neither us nor our third party service providers shall be liable, including but not limited to the risk of: power outages, broken connections, network circuit obstruction or congestion, transmission failures, transmission delays, the risk of delayed communications during period of increased market volatility, delay and/ or rejection by a third party broker involved in your transaction and/ or other occurrences outside our direct control (collectively, "Technical Issues"). You hereby agree to indemnify and hold us harmless with respect to any and all losses you many sustain in connection with any and all of the Technical Issues.
- 13.3. We shall not be held liable for your inability to participate in trading through our Trading Platform, and we accept no responsibility for any losses or missed opportunities on your part resulting from the delay or non-delivery of any orders or instructions via the trading platform.

14. Risk Reducing Orders or Strategies

14.1. The placing of certain orders (e.g., stop-loss orders), which are intended to limit losses to certain amounts may not be effective because market conditions may make it impossible to execute such orders. Strategies using combinations of positions, such as "spread" and "straddle" positions, may be as risky as taking simple "long" or "short" positions.

15. Electronic Communication

15.1. We offer you the opportunity to trade and communicate with us via electronic means, for example by our trading platform and email. Although electronic communication is often a reliable way to communicate, no electronic communication is entirely reliable or always available. In the event you choose to deal with us via electronic communication, you should be aware that electronic communications can fail, can be delayed, may not be secure and/or may not reach the intended destination.

16. Foreign Markets

16.1. Foreign markets involve different risks than those in the local markets. In some cases the risks will be greater. The potential for profit or loss from transactions on foreign markets or in foreign denominated contracts will also be affected by fluctuations in the foreign exchange rates. Such enhanced risks include the risks of political or economic policy changes, which may substantially and permanently alter the conditions, and price of a foreign currency.



17. Collateral

17.1. If you deposit collateral as security with us, the way in which it will be treated will vary according to the type of transaction and where it is traded. There could be significant differences in the treatment of your collateral depending on whether you are trading on a recognized or designated investment exchange, with the rules of that exchange (and associated clearing house) applying, or trading off exchange. Deposited collateral may lose its identity as your property once dealings on your behalf are undertaken. Even if your dealings should ultimately prove profitable, you may not get back the same assets which you deposited and may have to accept payment in cash or equivalent.

18. Prices

18.1. The prices quoted on the Trading Platform are independent of prices of other institutions. Therefore, prices reported by us are independent and can differ from prices displayed elsewhere or from other liquidity providers in the interbank market. Differences can result from, but are not limited to, changes in liquidity from interbank market makers, resulting in an unbalanced position or exposure, or differing expectations of price movements. We expect that in most cases the prices provided to you will be in line with the interbank market but we cannot represent, warrant or covenant, explicitly or implicitly, that this will always be the case. Consequently, we may exercise considerable discretion in setting margin requirements and collecting margin deposits.

19. Commissions

19.1. Before you commence trading, you should obtain details of all commissions and other charges for which you will be liable. In the event any charges are not expressed in monetary terms (but, for example, as a percentage of contract value), you should obtain a clear written explanation, including appropriate examples, to establish what such charges are likely to mean in specific monetary terms. In the case of futures, when commission is charged as a percentage, it will normally be as a percentage of the total contract value, and not simply as a percentage of your initial payment.

20. Suspensions of Trading

20.1. Under certain trading conditions it may be difficult or impossible to liquidate an open position. This may occur, for example, at times of rapid price movement if the price rises or fall in one trading session to such an extent that without limitation under the rules of the relevant exchange, or third-party liquidity provider, trading is suspended or restricted. Placing a stop-loss order will not necessarily limit your losses to the intended amounts, as market conditions may make it impossible to execute such an order at the stipulated price and your order may be executed at a worse price (slippage).

21. Liquidation of Open positions

21.1. Positions may be liquidated or closed out without your consent in the event you fail to meet a margin call warning. Additionally, the insolvency, default or any market condition affecting any broker involved in your transaction may lead to positions being liquidated or closed out without your prior consent. In certain circumstances, you may not get back the actual assets which you lodged as collateral and you may have to accept any available payment in cash.

22. Trading via a Fund Manager

22.1. We do not take any responsibility for third party fund managers, and you agree to hold us, our employees, agents, officers, directors and shareholders harmless from any losses



sustained by you as a result of actions undertaken by such third-party fund managers. Should you grant a third-party fund manager discretionary trading authority, you grant such authority at your sole and full risk.

23. Insolvency

23.1. Any insolvency or default may lead to positions being liquidated or closed out without your consent. In certain circumstances, you may not get back the actual assets, which you lodged as collateral and you may have to accept any available payment in cash. Additionally, and unless you are a Retail client, you transfer full ownership and title to a portion or all of the money you deposit with us representing an amount necessary to secure your open positions or cover your actual of future contingent or prospective obligations (which will be calculated daily at our sole discretion based on your daily open positions and trading and which may be greater than the margin required to maintain your open positions, as market conditions may dictate). You will not have a proprietary claim over that portion or any of your money and that portion or any of your money will not be segregated, and you will rank only as a general creditor of ours with respect to any claim for the payment of such portion of the above-described money you deposit which may therefore be irrecoverable in the event of any insolvency or default.

